
 

 

OFFICIAL 

 
 

#plymplanning 

 
 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

Thursday 24 July 2025 

4.00 pm 

Council Chamber, Council House 
 

Members: 

Councillor Stevens, Chair 

Councillor Penrose, Vice Chair 

Councillors Allen, Mrs Bridgeman, Darcy, Freeman, Goslin, Loveridge, McCarty, McNamara, 

P.Nicholson, M.Smith and Tuohy. 
 

Members are invited to attend the above meeting to consider the items of business overleaf. 
 

This meeting will be webcast and available on-line after the meeting.  By entering the Council 

Chamber, councillors are consenting to being filmed during the meeting and to the use of the 

recording for the webcast. 
 

The Council is a data controller under the Data Protection Act.  Data collected during this 

webcast will be retained in accordance with authority’s published policy. 

 

You can watch any of our webcast meetings on YouTube. For further information on attending 

Council meetings and how to engage in the democratic process please follow this link – Get 
Involved 
 

 

Tracey Lee 

Chief Executive 

 

 Oversight and Governance 

Chief Executive’s Department 

Plymouth City Council 

Ballard House 

Plymouth  PL1 3BJ 

 

Please ask for  Elliot Wearne-Gould 

T 01752 668000 

E democraticservices@plymouth.gov.uk 

www.plymouth.gov.uk/democracy 

Published 15 July 2025 

https://www.youtube.com/playlist?list=PLW0qNdfVlat35d9TRrIZF8fstPQ3ucVRl
https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/get-involved
https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/get-involved
http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/


 

 

OFFICIAL 

 

Planning Committee 
 

 

AGENDA 

 

PART I – PUBLIC MEETING 

  

1. Apologies    
  

 To receive apologies for non-attendance submitted by Committee Members.  

  

2. Declarations of Interest    

  

 Members will be asked to make any declarations of interest in respect of items on this 

agenda. 

  

3. Minutes   (Pages 1 - 4) 

  

 The Committee will be asked to confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 26 June 

2025. 

  

4. Chair's Urgent Business    

  

 To receive reports on business which, in the opinion of the Chair, should be brought 

forward for urgent consideration. 

  

5. Questions from Members of the Public    

  

 The Chair will receive and respond to questions from members of the public submitted in 

accordance with the Council’s procedures. Questions shall not normally exceed 50 

words in length and the total length of time allowed for public questions shall not exceed 

10 minutes. Any question not answered within the total time allowed shall be the subject 

of a written response. 

  

6. Planning Applications for consideration    

  

 The Service Director for Strategic Planning and Infrastructure will submit a schedule 

asking Members to consider Applications, Development proposals by Local Authorities 

and statutory consultations under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and the 
Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 

  

 6.1. 24/00371/FUL - Land Adj. To Wilmot Gardens Plymouth PL5 

3TP 

(Pages 5 - 36) 

   

  Applicant:  Mr Darren Wills 

Ward:   Honicknowle 

Recommendation: Grant Conditionally  
 

   



 

 

OFFICIAL 

 6.2. 25/00236/S73 - 186 - 190 Keyham Road Plymouth PL2 1RB (Pages 37 - 46) 

   

  Applicant:  Liam Lynch  

Ward: Devonport 

Recommendation: Grant Conditionally 
 

   

7. Planning Application Decisions Issued   (Pages 47 - 56) 

  

 The Service Director for Strategic Planning and Infrastructure, acting under powers 

delegated to him by the Council, will submit a schedule outlining all decisions issued from 

17/06/2025 to 11/07/2025, including – 

 

1)  Committee decisions; 

2)  Delegated decisions, subject to conditions where so indicated; 

3)  Applications withdrawn; 

4)  Applications returned as invalid. 

 

Please note that these Delegated Planning Applications are available to view online at: 
http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/planningapplicationsv4/welcome.asp  

  

8. Appeal Decisions   (Verbal 

Report) 

  

 A schedule of decisions made by the Planning Inspectorate on appeals arising from the 

decision of the City Council will be submitted.  Please note that these Delegated Planning 

Applications are available to view online at:  

http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/planningapplicationsv4/welcome.asp  

  

9. Exempt Business    

  

 To consider passing a resolution under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 

1972 to exclude the press and public from the meeting for the following item(s) of 
business on the grounds that it (they) involve(s) the likely disclosure of exempt 

information as defined in paragraph(s) … of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act, as 

amended by the Freedom of Information Act 2000.  

  

 

http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/planningapplicationsv4/welcome.asp
http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/planningapplicationsv4/welcome.asp


This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee Thursday 26 June 2025 

Planning Committee 
 

Thursday 26 June 2025 

 

PRESENT: 

 

Councillor Stevens, in the Chair. 

Councillor Penrose, Vice Chair. 

Councillors Mrs Bridgeman, Freeman, Goslin, McCarty, McNamara, P.Nicholson, 

S.Nicholson (substitute for Councillor Loveridge), M.Smith, R.Smith (substitute for 

Councillor Darcy) and Tuohy. 

 

Apologies for absence: Councillors Allen, Darcy and Loveridge.  

 

Also in attendance: Ethan Bell (Planning Officer), Natalie Gloyn (Lawyer), Sam 

Lewis (Planning Officer), Joshua Longstaff (Business Support Officer), Jake Metcalfe 

(Democratic Support Officer) and Stuart Wingfield (Head of Development 

Management). 

 

The meeting started at 4.02 pm and finished at 4.23 pm. 

 

Note: At a future meeting, the committee will consider the accuracy of these draft minutes, 

so they may be subject to change.  Please check the minutes of that meeting to confirm 

whether these minutes have been amended. 

 

1. Declarations of Interest   

 

No declarations of interest were made.  

 

2. Minutes   
 

The minutes of the meeting held 24 April 2025 were agreed as a correct record. 

 

3. Chair's Urgent Business   

 

There were no items of Chair’s urgent business. 

 

4. Questions from Members of the Public   

 

There were no questions from members of the public. 

 

5. Planning Applications for consideration   

 

The Committee considered the following applications, development proposals by 

local authorities and statutory consultations submitted under the Town and Country 

Planning Act, 1990, and the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservations Areas) Act, 

1990. 

 

 

Page 1 Agenda Item 3



Planning Committee Thursday 26 June 2025 

6. 25/00521/FUL - 5 Springfield Avenue Plymouth PL9 8PZ   

 

Applicant: Ms Neale 

Ward: Plymstock Dunstone 

Decision: Application GRANTED conditionally 

 

Ethan Bell (Planning Officer) presented the report. 

 

Following discussions, the Committee agreed to grant the application conditionally. 

 

For (12) 

Councillors Mrs Bridgeman, Freeman, Goslin, McCarty, McNamara, P. Nicholson, S. 

Nicholson, Penrose, M. Smith, R. Smith, Stevens and Tuohy.  

 

Against (0) 
 

Abstain (0) 

 

Absent/Did Note Vote (0) 

 

7. 25/00749/GPD - 41 Houndiscombe Road Plymouth PL4 6EX   

 

Applicant: Kallis 

Ward: Drake 

Decision: Application GRANTED conditionally 

 

Sam Lewis (Planning Officer) presented the report. 

 

Following discussions, the Committee agreed to grant the application conditionally.  

 

For (11) 

Councillors Mrs Bridgeman, Freeman, Goslin, McCarty, McNamara, S. Nicholson, 

Penrose, M. Smith, R. Smith, Stevens and Tuohy.  

 

Against (0) 

 

Abstain (1) 

Councillor P. Nicholson. 

 

Absent/Did Not Vote (0) 

 

8. Planning Application Decisions Issued   

 

The Committee agreed to note the report from the Service Director for Strategic 

Planning and Infrastructure on decisions issued for the period 24 April 2025 to 17 
June 2025. 

 

9. Appeal Decisions   

 

Page 2



Planning Committee Thursday 26 June 2025 

Stuart Wingfield (Head of Development Management) explained the appeal decision 

on Mutley Plain related to a policy for hot food takeaways and their close 

proximities to schools. The inspector dismissed the appeal. 

 

The Committee agreed to note the schedule of appeal decisions made by the 

Planning Inspectorate. 

 

10. Exempt Business   

 

There were no items of exempt business. 

 

 

 

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 4



 

   

PLANNING APPLICATION 
OFFICERS REPORT 

 
 

Site Address Land Adj. To Wilmot Gardens  Plymouth  PL5 3TP       

Proposal Construction of 5no. affordable dwellings with associated parking. 

Applicant Mr Darren Wills 

Application Type Full Application 

Target Date    20.05.2024 
Committee 
Date 24.07.2025 

Extended Target Date 28.10.2024   

Decision Category Service Director of SPI 

Case Officer Mr Macauley Potter 

Recommendation Grant Conditionally 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Application 
Number   24/00371/FUL  Item 1 

Date Valid 25.03.2024  Ward HONICKNOWLE 

Page 5 Agenda Item 6.1



 

 

 
 
This application has been referred to the Planning Committee by the Service Director of Strategic 
Planning and Infrastructure due to public interest reasons and issues of probity (see Section 10 for 
details).  
 
1.  Description of Site 
The application site comprises of a parcel of non-designated open green space on the border of 
Cowley Road, Ruskin Crescent and Wilmot Gardens. Established native Ash and Oak trees are 
situated on the western boundary and provide a buffer between the green space and Wilmot 
Gardens. The application site, which lies in the Honicknowle Ward of the city, is predominately 
residential in character. 
 
2.  Proposal Description 
Construction of 5no. affordable dwellings with associated parking. 
 

Page 6



 

 

3. Pre-application Enquiry 
23/00678/MOR - 5no. affordable dwellings - revised/reduced design was considered acceptable in 
principle from a planning perspective with more community open space incorporated into the layout. 
Minimal tree information was submitted at pre-application with Natural Infrastructure (NI) response 
stating that mitigation hierarchy should be followed, and all tree removal should be fully justified. 
 
4. Relevant Planning History 
Planning history for the site began with application: 21/01972/FUL, which was submitted on the 1st 
November 2021 for 7no. affordable dwellings and was later withdrawn due to several issues. In 2023, 
a pre application was submitted (ref: 23/00678/MOR), which proposed a reduction from 7no. to 5no. 
affordable dwellings along with other layout improvements. Whilst different layouts were considered, 
the impact to the 5no. trees along the west boundary could not be overcome, therefore officers 
were of the view that appropriate tree mitigation would be required for the site. 
 
The current application (ref: 24/00371/FUL) is therefore based upon the preferred layout as 
presented at pre-application stage, including the proposed removal of the same 5no. trees detailed 
on planning application: 21/01972/FUL (7 dwellings). 
 
This application (ref: 24/00371/FUL) was reported to planning committee on the 29th August 2024 
and was deferred for the following four reasons: 
 
1) A response or report from a qualified arboriculturist on the impact on the root system and a 

request for their attendance at committee. 
2) A request to investigate the possibility of a resurfacing and reconfiguration of the car park 

pertaining to disability requirements and resurfacing. 
3) Further confirmation of the application for a Tree Preservation Order, whether remaining 

trees would be subject to TPO. 
4) Clarity on the site's categorisation as "surplus to requirement", including information on 

community use through submission of an Open Space Assessment. 
 
This application was brought back to committee on 24th October 2024 and responses to these 
matters were provided, as explained in the analysis section below. Clarification is provided regarding 
the previously reported green space measurements, and the Biodiversity Net Gain section provides 
further clarification in terms of compliance with policy DEV26. The resolution at the October 2024 
planning committee was that the application should be granted conditionally.  
 
Following this resolution and the issuing of the decision, Plymouth City Council received a Judicial 
Review (JR) Pre-action Protocol Letter dated 12th November 2024. A Pre-action Protocol Letter is 
the first stage of a Judicial Review process in which the grounds for challenge are set out. The intent 
of the challenge was to quash the planning decision of the Council. There were two grounds of 
challenge as follows:  
 
Ground 1 – Failure to properly address the affordable housing balance. The claim being that the 
Council had not given reasons for departure from the officer’s recommendation in relation to 
affordable housing, or alternatively the planning application did not reflect through conditional 
consent, the affordable housing requirement. 
 
Ground 2 – There were significant and material inaccuracies in the Officer’s Report that had the 
effect of misleading the planning committee about a material matter, namely the extent of 
biodiversity loss that would be caused by the proposed scheme. 
 

Page 7



 

 

Based on legal advice the decision was made that Plymouth City Council would make a request to 
the High Court to quash the decision. The courts have now confirmed that the decision has been 
quashed and therefore the application as submitted needs to be determined again. 
 
The proposal therefore returns as presented at the planning committee of 24th October 2024, but 
with an affordable housing condition added and the report updated on this matter. Further updates 
are also made to the report, particularly in relation to biodiversity net gain information and the 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) updates, including changes to housing land supply. 
 
5. Consultation Responses 
Local Highway Authority - no objection subject to conditions.  
 
Designing Out Crime Officer - no objections from a designing out crime perspective. 
 
Lead Local Flood Authority - no objection following the submission of further details and pre-
commencement condition.  
 
Waste Residential (Street Services) - no objection. 
 
Public Protection Service - No objection subject to condition.  
 
Natural Infrastructure - Objection to the removal of 5no. trees and concerns raised about loss of the 
greenspace. 
 
South West Water - standard response on asset protection. 
 
Housing Delivery Team (HDT) - Supports this development and recommends condition. 
 
6. Representations 
49 letters of objection have been received which outline the following concerns: 
- Loss of trees 
- Loss of greenspace used extensively by the local community for a variety of uses, particularly 

during the Covid-lockdown 
- No Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) information provided 
- Loss of ecology / wildlife 
- Conflicts with Policies DEV26 and DEV27 of the Joint Local Plan 
- Proximity of next nearest greenspace / only greenspace in the area 
- Increased traffic and strain on parking 
- Site not suitable for housing 
- Loss of light 
- Loss of privacy 
- Overlooking 
- Noise resulting from construction work 
 
Please note that duplicate or multiple representations from the same person have been counted as 
one representation.  
 
7. Relevant Policy Framework 
Section 70 of the 1990 Town and Country Planning Act requires that regard be had to the 
development plan, national development management policies, local finance and any other material 
considerations. Section 38(5B) of the 2004 Planning and Compensation Act sets out that the 
determination of any matter under the planning Acts must be made in accordance with the 
development plan and any national development management policies, taken together, unless 

Page 8



 

 

material considerations strongly indicate otherwise.  For the purposes of decision making, as of 
March 26th 2019, the Plymouth & South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014 - 2034 is now part of the 
development plan for Plymouth City Council, South Hams District Council and West Devon 
Borough Council (other than parts South Hams and West Devon within Dartmoor National Park). 
The Plymouth & South West Devon Supplementary Planning Document provides amplification of the 
policies of the Joint Local Plan.   
 
The relevant policies and/or provisions of the following documents will also have the potential to be 
material to the consideration of the application:  National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), 
Planning Practice Guidance (PPG), National Design Guidance, the Plymouth and South West Devon 
Climate Emergency Planning Statement (CEPS) 2022, and the Joint Local Plan Five Year Review 
Report 2024. 
 
Following adoption of the Joint Local Plan, the three authorities jointly notified the Ministry of 
Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) of their choice to monitor the Housing 
Requirement at the whole plan level. This is for the purposes of the Housing Delivery Test (HDT) 
and the Five Year Housing Land Supply assessment. A letter from MHCLG to the Authorities was 
received on 13 May 2019 confirming the change. On 12th December 2024 the Ministry of Housing, 
Communities and Local Government published the HDT 2023 measurement.  This confirmed the 
Plymouth, South Hams and West Devon's joint measurement as 113% and there are no policy 
consequences. 
 
A 5% buffer is required to be applied for the purposes of calculating a five-year housing land supply at 
the whole plan level.  As a result of the new standard method set out in national planning practice 
guidance, and the housing provisions of the NPPF, the combined authorities are only able to 
demonstrate a 2.53 year housing land supply. This means that the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development set out in paragraph 11d applies for decision-making purposes, and that 
planning permission should be granted unless the specific circumstances set out in sub-points (i) or 
(ii) in paragraph 11d are satisfied.    
 
Additionally, the following planning documents are also material considerations in the determination 
of the application: 
- The Plymouth and South West Devon Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) (2020). 
- National Design Guide: Planning practice guidance for beautiful, enduring and successful 

places (2019) 
- Inclusive Mobility: A Guide to Best Practice on Access to Pedestrian and Transport 

Infrastructure (2021). 
 
8. Analysis  
1 An application of this type will be considered under the adopted Joint Local Plan and its 
Strategic Policies: SPT1 (Delivering sustainable development), SPT2 (Sustainable linked 
neighbourhoods and sustainable rural communities), SPT3 (Provision for new homes), SPT9 
(Strategic principles for transport planning and strategy), SPT10 (Balanced transport strategy for 
growth and healthy and sustainable communities) and SPT12 (Strategic approach to the natural 
environment). Strategic Objective: SO11 (Delivering high quality development); Development 
Management Policies: DEV1 (Protecting health and amenity), DEV2 (Air, water, soil, noise, land and 
light), DEV7 (Meeting local housing need in the Plymouth Policy Area), DEV9 (Meeting local housing 
need in the Plan Area), DEV10 (Delivering high quality housing), DEV20 (Place shaping and the quality 
of the built environment), DEV23 (Landscape character), DEV26 (Protecting and enhancing 
biodiversity and geological conservation), DEV27 (Green and play spaces ) DEV28 (Trees, woodlands 
and hedgerows), DEV29 (Specific provisions relating to transport), DEV31(Waste management), 
DEV32 (Delivering low carbon development), DEV35 (Managing flood risk and water quality 
impacts).  

Page 9



 

 

 
2 The material considerations for this application are: 
-  Principle of Development 
- Need for Housing Development 
- Affordable Housing 
- Accessible and Adaptable Homes 
- Delivering High Quality Housing 
- Design and Visual Impact 
- Sustainable Linked Neighbourhoods 
- Amenity 
- Flood Risk Considerations 
- Highway Considerations 
- Contaminated Land 
- Refuse Disposal 
- Natural Infrastructure Considerations 
- Climate Emergency 
- Other Matters 
 
3 The most important development plan policies which are relevant to the determination of 
this application are set out in the analysis below. Following publication of the NPPF, some policies 
may be considered out of date or partially out of date, as described below.  
 
4 SPT3 - Provision for new homes- this policy is now seen as out-of-date (i.e. overtaken by 
events that have happened since it was adopted, either on the ground or in some change in national 
policy, or some other reason). This is because the supply of housing proposed to be delivered within 
the plan period as set out in SPT3 is now significantly lower than what would be required under the 
new standard methodology, as set out above.  
 
Principle of Development 
5 All the DEV policies are included in the Joint Local Plan to help deliver the Plan's Strategic 
Objective SO11. This sets out the aim to deliver development which is sustainable and of the right 
type for its location. That includes providing high quality places which create a positive legacy for 
future generations (point 4) and responding positively to the challenges of climate change (point 6).   
 
6 Additionally, delivering sustainable development is the fundamental baseline principle within 
strategic policies SPT1 and SPT2 of the Joint Local Plan. 
 
7 The land is currently owned by Plymouth City Council and is a site which has come forward 
under the Plan-For-Homes programme. Plan-For-Homes sets out an ambition to deliver a minimum 
of 5,000 new homes in the city over the next five years. A Site Planning Statement promoting the 
land for residential development has been publicly available since December 2019. 
 
8 The site is un-designated green space, however Policy DEV27 (Green and play spaces) is still 
a material consideration. Officers acknowledge that the proposed scheme would not be compliant 
with DEV27 as there would be a significant loss to the existing open space. Pursuant to the Joint 
Local Plan Policies Map, officers have had to consider the site's status as non-designated greenspace 
in conjunction with the Plan-For-Homes scheme which has promoted the site for residential 
development. In consideration of these two factors, officers acknowledge that any number of 
residential units on the land would conflict with DEV27 due to the varied but significant degrees of 
impact to the function and characteristics of the greenspace. If the same is to be developed, the 
scope for retaining an open space on the site is highly constrained and the resultant creation of a 
smaller open space on Ruskin Crescent does not demonstrate equivalent or better provision. 
However, the case officer considers the current proposal to be an improvement over the previous 

Page 10



 

 

layout (ref: 21/01972/FUL) and does go some way to retain the limited character of the previous use 
whilst delivering an affordable housing scheme that will help to contribute towards housing delivery 
targets. Please refer to paragraphs 64-92 which go into more detail on considering the proposal 
against policy DEV27. 
 
9 In considering the current application, officers note that the trees are not protected under a 
Tree Preservation Order (TPO) and no applications for TPO status were made/considered between 
the withdrawn 21/01972/FUL application in January 2022 and March 2024 (the month of submission 
of the current application).  A request for the making of a TPO  was however received in the month 
of April 2024 and is under consideration with Street Services pending the outcome of the JR and 
subsequent planning committee (2025) decision. It is important to note that regardless of the 
decision on the TPO application (i.e. whether all trees are designated TPO) it would not alter the 
officer recommendation, as the quality of the trees have already been assessed as set out in 
paragraphs 50-62 of this report. 
 
10 Overall, and for the reasons to be discussed below, the case officer considers the principle of 
residential development (5-dwellings) in this location to be acceptable.  
 
Need for housing development 
11 The publication of the updated NPPF on 12th December 2024, alongside new guidance, sets 
out a new standard method to calculate local housing need with the clear aim of increasing housing 
delivery nationally. Policy SPT3 (Provision for new homes) of the Plymouth & South West Devon 
Joint Local Plan 2014-2034 (2019) (JLP) sets an overall housing requirement for the JLP Plan Area of 
26,700 dwellings (net), which is 1,335 per annum for the Plan Period between 2014 and 2034.  
 
12 The new standard method, however, identifies a housing need for the Plan Area of 2,643 
dwellings per annum. The Local Planning Authority (LPA) therefore accepts that, given the provisions 
of NPPG (Paragraph: 062, Reference ID: 61-062-20190315, Revision Date: 15/03/2019) and 
paragraph 34 of the NPPF, that SPT3 is now out of date and carries only limited weight.  
 
13 The extent of the shortfall is such that significant weight needs to be given to the need for 
housing  in the planning balance. 
 
Affordable Housing  
14 The proposal is for 100% affordable housing. However, the development is significantly below 
the threshold set for requiring affordable housing as set out in Policy DEV7.  Notwithstanding this, 
since it is the applicant’s intention to deliver affordable housing, they have agreed for this to be 
secured by condition. The delivery of 5 affordable housing units is therefore a material consideration 
in the assessment of this application. The Council's Housing Delivery Team (HDT) strongly support 
this proposal as it would make an important contribution to the City's urgent need for affordable 
housing. 
 
15 Paragraph 11 (d) and Footnotes 8 and 9 of the NPPF state that, where the policies which are 
most important for determining the application are out-of-date (including where the Local Planning 
Authority cannot demonstrate a five-year supply of housing land, or where the Housing Delivery 
Test (HD Test) indicates that the delivery of housing was substantially below the housing 
requirement over the previous three years) planning permission should be granted unless any 
adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when 
assessed against the policies in the Framework taken as a whole, having particular regard to key 
policies for directing development to sustainable locations, making effective use of land, securing 
well-designed places and providing affordable homes, individually or in combination. Footnote 9 
identifies the specific parts of the NPPF that the reference to key policies relates to.   
 

Page 11



 

 

16 The need for housing and particularly affordable housing is therefore given significant weight. 
 
Accessible and Adaptable Homes 
17 The HDT note that DEV9 requires 20% of dwellings on schemes of 5 or more to meet 
national accessibility and adaptability standard M4(2). The proposal currently provides one unit (Flat 
one) with the M4(2) standard. Due to the site topography affecting the required maximum gradients 
between the parking bay locations, the applicant has instead provided a drop-off bay outside the 
entrance of Flats 1 and 2, which is considered an acceptable compromise by the HDT. HDT note, 
however that the bin collection arrangement for the accessible plot would involve long walking 
distances around the back of the Plot 2 garden and the open space. The applicant states that this has 
been done to maximise green space. Officers note that the second bin collection point is located 
adjacent to the Plot 2 garden and therefore is much closer than the collection point for Plots 3, 4 
and 5, therefore, and on balance, this layout configuration is considered acceptable. In line with the 
HDT response, the M4(2) accessibility requirements and proof of compliance post completion is 
proposed to be conditioned. 
 
18 Any Accessible and Adaptable provision is nevertheless encouraged by the Local Planning 
Authority as there is a chronic shortage of accessible affordable housing as set out in Plan for Homes 
4 (2024-2029).  Overall, officers have considered Plot 1 in terms of M4(2) and conclude that the unit, 
on balance, does not conflict with Policy DEV9 of the Joint Local Plan. 
 
Delivering High Quality Housing 
19 Point 2 of policy DEV10 states that development proposals should look for opportunities to 
design out crime and the fear of crime in the layout of the development. The widened natural spaces 
incorporated into the scheme would retain the open character of the existing footpath along the 
rear of Ruskin Crescent which in turn would maintain a good degree of natural surveillance. 
Moreover, the Council's Designing Out Crime Officer has been consulted on the layout and has 
raised no objections or concerns from a police perspective. 
 
20 Point 3 states that affordable housing should be indistinguishable from other homes on the 
site, reflecting the type of housing on the development as a whole. The scheme would provide 100% 
affordable housing. Externally the units are uniform in appearance and would be finished with good 
quality materials (see paragraph 24). Point 5 states that: new dwellings (including conversions of 
existing properties into flats) should be of sufficient size and layout to provide good quality 
accommodation to meet the needs of their occupants, with developers required to meet Nationally 
Described Space Standards (NDSS). Officers have considered the development against the NDSS and 
confirm that the plots would meet the minimum internal standards (Plots 1 and 2 would be 59sqm, 
Plots 3 and 5 would be 93sqm and Plot 4 would be 80sqm). Moreover, the plots are also considered 
to meet the minimum outdoor space requirements as set out in the Joint Local Plan SPD (50sqm per 
Plot).  
 
21 Overall, the case officer considers that the development would accord with Policy DEV10 of 
the Joint Local Plan. 
 
Design and Visual Impact 
22 In relation to the impact of the development on the character of the area, Policy DEV20 is of 
relevance. This policy requires development to contribute positively to both townscape and 
landscape and protect and improve the quality of the built environment.   
 
23 Paragraph 4.142 of the SPD states that: 'Local Planning Authorities (LPAs) will carefully 
consider new development proposals of this type to ensure it only takes place on appropriate sites in 
residential areas and where it does not harm the character of the area.' 
 

Page 12



 

 

24 The application proposes 5no. terraced affordable dwellings on open land adjacent to Wilmot 
Gardens, Cowley Road and Ruskin Crescent. The proposed dwellings are contemporary in design 
and massing with a total ridge height of 8 metres with an eaves height of 5 metres. Each dwelling 
would be finished in good quality materials (the roof would consist of Quin roof tiles and the walls 
would be finished in painted render).   
 
25 Taking account of the intended site layout, due regard has been given to the character of 
Ruskin Crescent and Wilmot Gardens, noting that the proposed development continues the 
character of the surrounding street scene which provides ample grass verge buffers between the 
property curtilage and the pavement edge. The 5no. dwellings would be set back from the pavement 
edge in order to appear more subordinate and in-keeping with the surrounding area. Moreover, the 
dwellings would be bordered by a natural boundary treatment to the north and west (via a replanting 
scheme) which would provide adequate screening and would demonstrate good urban design as 
required in the National Design Guide. 
 
26 It is concluded that from a visual impact perspective, the dwellings are good quality in 
appearance and in-keeping with the residential character of the area. On this basis, the development 
is in accordance with policy DEV20 of the Joint Local Plan. 
 
Sustainable linked neighbourhoods 
27 Policy SPT1 sets out the overall sustainable development objectives of the Plan. Point 3i 
promotes the efficient use of land through optimising the reuse of previously developed sites and 
thereby reducing the need for greenfield development. The policy however does not exclude the 
possibility of greenfield development, and it should be noted that since 2014 76% of homes built in 
the Plymouth Policy Area have been on previously developed land, suggesting that this policy is being 
delivered effectively at local plan-level. In this case, the site is undeveloped land but not on 
Designated Green Space. There have been previous development proposals on the site however the 
principle of housing development on the subject land has not been previously established. 
 
28 Policy SPT2 sets out a series of principles that aim to ensure that development contributes to 
the delivery of sustainable linked neighbourhoods. Of particular significance to the current proposal 
are points:   
(1) 'Have reasonable access to a vibrant mixed use centre…' 
(4) 'Have a good balance of housing types and tenures to support a range of household sizes, 

ages and incomes to meet identified housing needs'. 
(5) 'Promote resilience to future change by ensuring a well-balanced demographic profile with 

equal access to housing and services'. 
(6) 'Are well served by public transport, walking and cycling opportunities'. 
(10) 'Provide a positive sense of place and identity, including through the recognition of good 

quality design, unique character, the role of culture, and the protection and enhancement of 
the natural and historic environment.' 

(11) 'Explore opportunities for the use of renewable energy, including community energy schemes 
where appropriate, and reduce the use of energy through design and energy efficiency.  

 
29 To refer to the above points and their numbering, in conjunction with the measures of 
sustainable neighbourhoods and communities (as set out in Figure 3.2 of the Joint Local Plan), the 
development would provide a range of 1-bed, 2-bed, 3-bed flats and dwellings (4 and 5), would be 
within 100 metres of the nearest bus stop (6) would conform to the layout character of the wider 
estate (10) and would propose on site climate mitigation (11). The site location is however more 
than 800m from the nearest primary school (1,170m) and more than 400m from the Transit Way 
District Centre (600m), therefore would not meet all the measures as set out in Figure 3.2.  
 

Page 13



 

 

30 Furthermore, when calculating the walking distance proximity of nearby green / natural 
spaces, the nearest green / natural spaces are: Manadon Sports & Community Hub (240m), Bladder 
Meadow (250m), Dingwall Avenue Play Area (600m), playing fields adjacent to Sonnet Close (680m), 
Woodland Woods (650m) and neighbourhood green space at Shakespeare Road/Byron Avenue 
(710m). It is important to note that there may be slight variances in the presented figures depending 
on where the measurement is taken within the Wilmot Gardens Site and the aforementioned green / 
park spaces. Specifically, places such as Bladder Meadow are measured at a distance of 250 metres, 
but this is the distance between the edge of Wilmot Gardens to the entrance of the Bladder 
Meadow footpath. If measuring the entire walking distance, it would be approximately 680 metres to 
the nearest children's play park. 
 
31 As set out in paragraph 3.17, the measures in Figure 3.2 are aspirational.  They are not 
intended to be applied through an inflexible 'tick box' exercise to determine the acceptability or 
otherwise of development, given that such an approach could restrict development that is 
fundamentally sustainable and makes a significant positive contribution to delivering the vision and 
strategy of the plan. However, the measures do contribute to the overall planning judgement, 
including the need for appropriate mitigation. In accounting for these measures and for the reasons 
described throughout this report, it is considered that there is no overall conflict with the principles 
set out in SPT2.  
 
Amenity 
32 In terms of the distance between Plot 5 and the rear elevations of properties along Ruskin 
Crescent, the current layout plan demonstrates 15 metres (compared to 12 metres under the 
withdrawn application). The open space along the eastern section has been widened and coupled 
with an existing footpath provides a sufficient buffer between the plots.  
 
33 Moreover, a 45-degree assessment has been carried out in accordance with paras 13.31-
13.34 of the SPD and it is concluded that the layout would not conflict with the 45-degree line and 
there are no identified impacts in terms of window-to-window overlooking due to north/south 
arrangement of the property line. Furthermore, the case officer considers there to be no conflict 
with sun position at various points in the day (noting the retained trees including the large Oak to 
south-west). 
 
34 Overall, the case officer has considered all 5no. plots against guidance on natural light, privacy 
and outlook and conclude that the proposals do not conflict with Policy DEV1 of the Joint Local Plan. 
 
Flood Risk Considerations 
35 The Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) were consulted and note that the site is in Flood 
Zone 1, which the Environment Agency (EA) defines as being at a low risk of fluvial or tidal flooding. 
Surface water flood risk mapping provided by the EA indicates the site is at low risk of surface water 
flooding from a 1% AEP (1 in 100 year return period) flood event. Moreover, the site is in a Critical 
Drainage Area (CDA) defined by the (EA) as an area where the existing drainage is at or close to its 
maximum capacity – it is highlighted that a significant portion of Plymouth falls within this 
designation. Public sewer records indicate there is a 150mm diameter SWW surface water sewer 
located in the parking area off Ruskin Crescent. 
 
36 The LLFA note that a drainage strategy has been submitted that proposes to discharge 
surface water to an existing SWW surface water sewer at an attenuated rate of 1.5l/s. The 1 in 10 
year green field run off rate for this development is calculated to be 0.55l/s. A ground investigation 
report has been submitted that concludes that soakaways are not suitable for the site due to poor 
soakaway test results. 
 

Page 14



 

 

37 As set out on the proposed drainage plan, attenuation storage is provided using underground 
crates beneath the parking area measuring 5m x 9m x 1m deep providing 45m3 of storage. An 
exceedance flow plan has also been submitted, along with a maintenance plan for the proposed 
drainage strategy. 
 
38 Further details were submitted including modelling results that support a 1 in 100 year return 
period design standard with a 50% allowance for climate change. Modelling results indicate the 
surface water drainage system is surcharged but no flooding is shown. A Construction Traffic and 
Environment Management Plan (CTEMP) has been submitted that contains information regarding the 
potential contamination of oil in watercourses. The CTEMP has been updated to contain information 
about how surface water is managed on site to prevent contaminated surface water run-off, how the 
new drainage system is protected from contamination during construction and how it is brought into 
commission. These details along with the updated drainage plan, design calculations and SWW 
approval letter have been reviewed by the LLFA and are considered acceptable. 
 
39 Having reviewed the submitted information and updated LLFA response, the case officer 
considers there to be no in-principle concerns and therefore the development would not conflict 
with Policy DEV35 of the Joint Local Plan. Submitted drainage details have been conditioned. 
 
Highway Considerations 
40 The Local Highway Authority (LHA) were consulted and raised no in-principle objection. The 
LHA note that the site was the subject of a previous planning application (21/01972/FUL) for 7 new 
affordable dwellings to which no in-principle objections were raised from a highway viewpoint. 
 
41 The site will be accessed by a new direct access into the communal parking area off Cowley 
Road, via a dropped kerb vehicle footway crossing. It is considered inter and forward visibility at the 
vehicle exit would be satisfactory. Moreover, given the minor scale of development, low levels of 
vehicular traffic typically associated with the wider residential estate and absence of a through road 
the case officer considers that the increase in traffic movements linked to the development would be 
acceptable. Further to this point, officers have recommended a preservation of sight lines condition 
(condition 17) to ensure that line of sight is not obstructed when entering and leaving the site.  
 
42 The application proposes 5 new dwellings; 2 flats with 1 bedroom and 3 dwellings with 2 
bedrooms. In line with the Joint Local Plan SPD, the car parking demand associated with the 
proposed development is 8 off-street car parking spaces; 2 for the 2 bedroom dwellings and 1 for 
the 1 bed flats. The application proposes 8 car parking spaces including 2 designated disabled bays 
which is considered acceptable. 
 
43 As illustrated on the proposed Site Plan, the application would need to provide provision for 
10 cycle storage spaces (1 per bedspace), car parking (8 spaces), electrical vehicle charging (1 per 
property) and bin storage to be provided in accordance with Council policy. These details will be 
conditioned to ensure that provision is made available prior to first occupation of the units. Overall, 
the case officer considers that the proposals would be acceptable and in accordance with Policy 
DEV29 of the Joint Local Plan. 
 
44 At the request of the Planning Committee in 2024, Officers had liaised with the applicant to 
establish the viability of installing a grasscrete solution to the parking area. The applicant noted that 
grasscrete is normally designed for permeable ground conditions as part of the Sustainable Drainage 
Systems (SUDs) strategy whereas the ground conditions on this site have very little percolation 
which is why the drainage system considered acceptable by the LLFA is an attenuated system with 
the discharge of surface water into the adopted SWW drainage system. A grasscrete installation with 
the previously accepted drainage arrangement would likely lead to frequent saturation of the 
grasscrete, soil displacement and pooling of surface water because of the land gradient. Moreover, 

Page 15



 

 

officers have considered that the uneven surface of the grasscrete would be unsuitable in terms of 
the disabled bay and mobility access across the parking area. 
 
45 The disabled bay has been located to the north-east of the site as the gradient here is gentler 
than those which are closer to the dwelling. Whilst the walking distance from this bay to the M4(2) 
compliant dwelling is approximately 20 metres, this distance falls well within the ‘recommended 
walking distances without a rest’, as described in Figure 3.4 of the Inclusive Mobility Guide 
(Department for Transport, 2021). Moreover, having taken account of national guidelines, the LHA 
consider the placement of this bay to be acceptable and as such officers would not consider it 
expedient to refuse the application on this ground alone. 
 
46 Overall, the case officer considers that there would be no conflict with policy DEV29 of the 
Joint Local Plan for the reasons outlined above.  
 
Contaminated Land  
47 A Preliminary Investigation Report (PIR) was submitted with the application and has been 
reviewed by the Public Protection Service (PPS). PPS are satisfied with the conclusions of the PIR and 
recommend a condition that in the event of any unexpected contaminated discovered during 
development, that work is stopped, and an investigation carried out. Subject to compliance with the 
recommended condition, the case officer considers that the proposals would be acceptable and in 
accordance with Policies DEV1 and DEV2 of the Joint Local Plan. 
 
Refuse Disposal 
48 As set out in the Design and Access Statement, each plot is provided with bin storage 
provision (see site plan) with paved access to a roadside collection point. These details are 
considered acceptable by Waste Management (Street Services) and would not conflict with Policies 
DEV1, DEV2, DEV20 and DEV31 of the Joint Local Plan. 
 
Natural Infrastructure Considerations 
49 The Council's Natural Infrastructure (NI) officers have been consulted on this application 
(see below). 
 
Trees  
50 The proposed layout would involve the removal of 5no. trees (3no. Ash and 2no. Oaks) on 
the west boundary. The submitted Arboricultural Impact Assessment (AIA) highlights several points 
of encroachment into the Root Protection Area (RPA) relating to these 5no. trees. Furthermore, 
5no. trees (4no. Oaks and 1no. Hawthorn) adjacent to the 'Community Garden' would be retained 
within the site.  
 
51 Policy DEV28 states that: 'Development should be designed to avoid the loss or deterioration 
of woodlands, trees or hedgerows. If the loss of trees, woodlands or hedgerows, cannot be avoided, 
new native and locally appropriate trees and hedgerows will be secured as mitigation to ensure they 
contribute to a 'net gain'. Mitigation should be delivered on site, but if this is not achievable, offsite 
compensation will be required to provide a net gain in canopy cover in line with local standards.' 
 
52 At the request of the planning committee an independent, qualified arborist was consulted to 
assess whether any of the trees proposed for removal could be retained within the scheme. In 
summary, the arborist is of the opinion that the trees are unlikely to survive with the current layout 
due to Root Protection Area (RPA) incursions. Concerns related to shading, maintenance and the 
presence of ash die back have also been highlighted. 
 
53 The report sets out that the RPA is the specified minimum rooting volume that the tree 
needs to survive. The most important roots are the smaller diameter fibrous roots which are 

Page 16



 

 

responsible for the uptake of water and nutrients (food) which form a large portion of the RPA 
within the site. Trees like T1 have large portions of their RPA impacted by proposed construction 
(estimated at 45%), making their survival challenging despite protective measures techniques or other 
mitigations. This issue is further compounded by restrictions to root growth on the western side of 
the site, which has extensive hard surfacing. Consequently, the trees will favour the grassed open 
space, where they can access a more suitable rooting environment with ample nutrients, oxygen, and 
water. The long-term viability of these trees in relation to what is proposed is therefore limited due 
to the physical incursions. 
 
54 The report also highlights that ash trees T1, T5, and T6 are showing symptoms of ash 
dieback, in the form of a fungal disease that severely reduces vitality and life expectancy. The survival 
rate of ash trees infected with ash dieback is generally low, with mortality rates varying significantly 
depending on environmental factors and the tree's individual health. Infected ash trees in plantations 
have a mortality rate as high as 85%, while in more natural woodland environment, mortality rates 
are estimated to be around 70%. Younger trees can die within a few years, while mature trees may 
survive up to 10-15 years, depending on stage of infection and environmental stressors. 
 
55 In the opinion of the arborist, the infection in T1 is well established therefore limiting long 
term viability of the site overall (5 years).  
 
56 The arborist notes that T5 and T6 are not showing as high a level of infection and would 
suggest a gradual decline over the next 10-15 years. An inspection of T6 also confirmed the presence 
of a bark wound at the base and a large portion of sapwood is exposed at a structurally load bearing 
point. In structural terms this will degrade over time leading to remedial works to mitigate against 
large primary branch failure. 
 
57 In terms of retaining any of the trees proposed for removal, the arborist considers this will 
not be feasible, especially for ash susceptible to disease (T1) or where the proposed development 
will significantly impact on the RPA. 
 
58 Shading is a key consideration in the case of T4 (Oak), T5 (Ash) and T6 (Ash) which would 
have significant canopy overhang into areas such as gardens. Large mature trees can create 
substantial shade, which would affect the usability and desirability of the proposed gardens and 
dwellings. The arborist adds that this would likely lead to future requests from occupants to reduce 
the canopy and/or remove trees. In this context, trees like T4, which are dominant, would create 
shading concerns for residents (especially in the afternoons and evenings), reducing direct and 
natural light to gardens and habitable rooms (please also note paragraph 33 of this report). 
Moreover, the proximity of trees to new dwellings can lead to concerns from residents regarding 
safety, particularly in strong winds. Issues such as falling branches or the potential for whole-tree 
failure, could lead to ongoing requests for removal or reduction of these trees. Furthermore, the 
presence of deciduous trees like ash and oak will inevitably lead to seasonal leaf fall, which can cause 
maintenance concerns. Leaves can block gutters, create slippery surfaces and add to property 
maintenance. Given these factors, retaining any of the trees currently proposed for removal will be 
challenging in the opinion of the arborist. 
 
59 The Council's NI officers maintain an objection to the proposed removals due to the high 
amenity value of the trees on the western boundary and would seek for these to be retained, 
particularly the Category A Oak tree. Whilst NI officers appreciate that Ash are susceptible to ash 
dieback disease, they did not agree that their potential to be infected is a reason for them to be 
removed. NI officers would instead argue that uninfected trees should be retained wherever possible 
to preserve the number of ash trees in the city. 
 

Page 17



 

 

60 The case officer acknowledges that whilst the removal of the 5no. trees along the western 
boundary is regrettable, a solution to their safeguarding during and post construction unfortunately 
could not be found when considering the pre-application layout options (for 5 dwellings) due to the 
constrained geometry within the site. Specifically, no presented layout option avoided the root zones 
of the western boundary trees in totality.  
 
61 Coupling the layout constraints with the non-protected status of the 5no. trees at the time of 
the submission, officers therefore considered that the proposed replanting strategy which 
demonstrates full compliance with the Joint Local Plan SPD was therefore the favoured option. The 
replanting strategy would comprise of 29 trees (as detailed in Table 4 of the Arboricultural Impact 
Assessment), therefore addressing the second part of policy DEV28. 12 trees would be planted on-
site and 17 would be planted off-site at locations approved by Plymouth City Council. The full 
specification of the soft landscaping works would be secured through a pre commencement soft and 
hard landscaping condition.  
 
62 On this basis given the very specific constraints of the site geometry, the essential need for 
housing and the additional benefit of delivering a 100% affordable housing scheme, the case officer is 
of the opinion that on balance these collective factors therefore clearly outweigh the loss of these 
trees. Accordingly, there is no conflict with DEV28 in light of the benefits of the scheme and as 
mitigation has been secured in full compliance with the Joint Local Plan SPD. 
 
Ecology and Landscape 
63 An Ecological Impact Assessment (EcIA) has been completed by an appropriately qualified and 
experienced ecologist. The report concludes that assuming that works are timed appropriately and 
recommended mitigation is completed, the development is unlikely to have a significant adverse 
effect on ecological receptors. Compensation for loss of roosting and foraging habitat is proposed in 
the form of 5 bat boxes to be installed on adjacent trees and 5 boxes on new dwellings post 
construction, and planting of replacement trees with enhancement measures proposed through 
wildflower underplanting of the traditional orchard. The Council's NI officers are of the opinion that 
the EcIA is acceptable, and the conclusions drawn are supported by the survey findings. There are no 
further objections by NI officers on ecological grounds. The measures set out in the EcIA are 
secured through a compliance condition and a pre commencement Construction Environment 
Management Plan (CEMP) and pre-damp proof course Landscape Ecology Management Plan (LEMP) 
conditions. Subject to the submission of the above details, officers would not consider there to be 
any conflict with Policies DEV26 and DEV28 of the Joint Local Plan. 
 
Greenspace 
64 Policy DEV27 is an in-principle consideration and is discussed in paragraph 8 earlier in the 
report and weighed up in the Conclusion and Reasons for Decision section at the end of this report. 
Officers have carefully considered the implications of DEV27 in conjunction with other policy areas 
of compliance that the scheme demonstrates.  
 
65 DEV27 states that ‘Existing open spaces, which also includes designated City Green Spaces 
and Neighbourhood Green Spaces, should not be built on unless it is demonstrated that the “open 
space is surplus to requirements; or the loss will be replaced by equivalent or better provision in a 
suitable location; or the development is for alternative sports and recreation provision, the needs for 
which clearly outweigh the loss”. ‘Policy DEV27 relates to sites with a specific designation and also to 
undesignated green spaces within the Plan Area’. DEV27 is broadly compliant with NPPF (2024), in 
particular paragraphs 103-104. Paragraph 103 requires the relevant green space assessment to 
“clearly” show that the open space is surplus to requirements. 
 
66 The Council’s NI officers consider that the un-designated status of the Wilmot Gardens open 
space should not be taken as an indication that it is not important. As explained in the Plymouth 

Page 18



 

 

Policy Area Open Space Assessment (PPAOSA), sites were primarily drawn from previous 
assessments (Greenspace Assessment (2000 and 2008 update) and Greenspace Strategy), and while 
others have been added, it is still possible that some eligible spaces were missed, hence the provision 
to consider such sites under policy DEV27. The methodology section of the PPAOSA (3.11) states 
that the minimum threshold for audit was 0.2ha (although some smaller spaces were included “due 
to their typology”). It should be noted that this site is smaller than this threshold at 0.1365ha, so may 
have been omitted from the study on that basis. 
 
Test: Alternative sports and recreation provision. 
67 In considering this first test the proposal is not for alternative sports or recreation provision 
and therefore the proposal must demonstrate that the green space is either surplus to requirements, 
or that better or equal provision is provided in a suitable location . If this is not the case, the 
proposed development will not comply with DEV27 and the Council must consider in the usual way 
the nature and extent of that breach, together with any others, means the development plan as a 
whole is not complied with, and if so, whether the benefits of the development outweigh that non-
compliance. 
 
Test: Better or equal provision. 
68 In considering the second test, the proposal does retain a relatively small area of the site as a 
community garden. This retention does go some way to retain access to local open space for 
residents who, for mobility or other reasons, might find it difficult to access alternative spaces 
further away.  However, the proposed space is small with limited facilities and therefore cannot be 
said to provide “better or equal provision”. The relevant test must therefore be whether the 
remainder of the space (to be developed) is clearly shown to be surplus to requirements. 
 
Test: Surplus to requirements. 
69 In considering the third test, the Joint Local Plan SPD provides guidance on applying the tests 
of DEV 27.2. The title of this section is “DEV27.2 – Open spaces, including designated City Green 
Space and Neighbourhood Green Space”. A further subtitle “City and Neighbourhood Green Space” 
may imply that the guidance immediately following (7.119-7.121, and by association the tests at 
7.122-7.135) may only apply to these designated spaces, and not to undesignated spaces such as the 
subject site. 
 
70 However, this is not explicitly stated and it is clear that Policy DEV27 applies to all open 
space. Indeed, the policy’s supporting text states that “Policy DEV27 relates both to sites with a 
specific designation and also to undesignated green spaces within the Plan Area”. This would suggest 
that a similar approach should be taken to all green spaces where possible, and in the absence of 
separate guidance for undesignated spaces, it is reasonable to use the guidance within the SPD to 
assess the loss of undesignated spaces.   
 
71 However, this presents a challenge because undesignated green spaces are not mapped in the 
local plan; their contribution to deficiency has not been calculated; and they do not have existing 
Open Space Assessments (OSA). The LPA must therefore apply a bespoke approach. 
 
72 Paragraph 7.122.a. of the SPD, and DEV27(2) itself, requires that account is taken of the value 
of the green space (type and size). The space has not been designated, nor characterised (given a 
type or label). The land is predominantly covered by a sloping, mown grassed area. The topography 
would prevent more formal activities (such as ball games), but the size and regular shape would allow 
informal gatherings, picnics, dog walking etc. Therefore, for the purposes of this assessment, and 
following the classifications provided in table 6.1 of the PPAOSA, NI officers would categorise this 
space as “Amenity Green Space”, which provides “Opportunities for informal activities close to 
home or work”. In line with the further subcategories in the OSA (paragraph 1.11) and SPD, this is 
further characterised as “small” (under 2 ha). 

Page 19



 

 

 
73 NI officers further assume the meaning of “value” aligns with the PPAOSA, where “value” has 
a specific meaning relating to the criteria in the OSA audit forms. There is no further guidance on 
how “value” should be taken account of in deciding if the site is surplus to requirements (the 
purpose of the score in the PPAOSA appears to be an aspirational “ideal score scenario” for an open 
space of good quality -see 1.16-1.17). It plays no clear part in the development of policy DEV27. For 
the purposes of this assessment, NI officers therefore assume that less valuable spaces are more 
likely to be surplus to requirements in areas where other provision exists. However, in areas where 
there is an overall deficiency of spaces, this would not be the case. 
 
74 The Natural Infrastructure Team conducted an OSA for the site, which confirms that both 
the “Value” and “quality” scores are low. Figure 8.4 of the PPAOSA shows that while there are 
equivalent or higher value Amenity Green Spaces in the area, convoluted street layouts and 
restricted access points mean that removal of this space would likely decrease access to equivalent 
value spaces for a number of properties in the immediate vicinity of the space (circa 111 properties 
within a 150m radius of the space). This is mitigated slightly by the presence of a number of smaller 
grassed areas, but these are unlikely to offer the same level of amenity. 
 
75 Note: An OSA was requested by planning committee and is not a requirement of policy, nor 
the SPD. As above, this did aid in establishing a quantifiable value and quality score for the 
greenspace. The OSA process includes value and quality consideration of community involvement. 
“Value” for community involvement is based on the presence of Friends groups, a programme of 
activities and certified quality awards (e.g. Green Flag, Green Heritage or Green Pennant Awards). 
None exist. “Quality” for community involvement is based on the presence of permanent or 
temporary public notice boards with up-to-date content. No notice boards are present. On both 
assessments the score for community involvement score was therefore 0. However, 49 letters of 
representation to the planning application do provide some indication of a level of use of the space 
by the local community and the value that they place on it. 
 
76 The space is therefore assessed, on balance, to have a moderate impact on access to green 
space of an equivalent value and therefore limited weight is given to the loss in this respect. 
 
77 Paragraph 7.122.b of the SPD requires account is taken of “The potential to increase the 
value or quality of the open space to fulfil more functions, fulfil its function better, or mitigate any 
deficiencies. The applicable OSA and any ‘made’ Neighbourhood Plans will also be taken into 
account.” There is no neighbourhood plan and the OSA validated by the NI team demonstrates low 
existing value. While there are doubtless opportunities for improvement, especially when 
considering the shape and size of this space, the Local Planning Authority are not aware of any plans 
or funding currently committed to improve the space. However, the SPD is clear in 7.123 that “The 
existing low quality nature of a green space will not form a consideration in whether the site is 
surplus to requirements”. 
 
78 Regarding “deficiencies” in open space having regard to the Plymouth Policy Area Open 
Space Assessment (PPAOSA): 
 
* Firstly, the city as a whole has a deficiency of Amenity Green Space (1.13ha/100 population against 
a target of 1.44ha). While the loss of this space would not change this assessment (because the space 
was not included in the original numbers) retention and designation in the future could improve this 
overall score. 
* Secondly, the local area does not have a deficiency (1.76ha/100 people). So, the loss will not 
contribute to local deficiencies. 
 

Page 20



 

 

79 Therefore, under this sub test, the space could be judged to mitigate the city-wide deficiency. 
However, given that the function of “amenity green space” is to provide informal activity space close 
to home or work, NI officers would consider the second bullet point test a more important measure 
of local deficiency (especially as the sub area boundaries are fairly arbitrary when considering access 
across them is often unimpeded). 
 
80 Sub test 7.122.c requires that the LPA takes account of the site’s accessibility and potential 
neighbourhood catchment as identified within the JLP (as set out in figure 3.2) and the relevant OSA. 
 
81 In terms of the standards set out in figure 3.2 of the JLP, this space meets the definition of 
local playable space set out in the Plymouth Play Assessment (PPA) (JLP evidence base), which defers 
to Play England’s “Design for Play” document, where a playable space is defined as “A place where 
children can play that is not specifically designated for play, and which does not have play as its 
principal or only function”. 
 
82 From the buffer analysis in the Plymouth Play Assessment, the loss of this space (though not 
mapped) would result in a small number of properties currently within 400m of a playable space no 
longer being so. 
 
83 Regarding the relevant OSA, Figure 8.4 of the PPAOSA shows that the area is generally well 
covered by access to amenity green spaces, but that this space might currently be filling a small gap in 
access (as it is undesignated, this is not mapped, but the space clearly sits close to an area not within 
the buffer of another space). 
 
84 The loss of this space would therefore reduce access to playable areas and amenity green 
spaces for some residents. The retained space would not be considered to provide suitable 
alternatives. 
 
85 NI officers identified a number of smaller undesignated grassed areas in the vicinity. These 
areas offer some limited opportunities for activities such as dog walking, sitting, and exercise etc. 
However, their irregular shape and smaller size would pose significant limitations, and they do not 
offer the same level of amenity as the space being lost. 
 
86 The final set of tests to be taken into account, are set out in paragraph 7.122d of the JLP SPD. 
They relate to the amount of green space in the area and provide that if the loss, or part loss of the 
site, will result in the below then the site shall not be surplus to requirement: 
 
A) The local area not meeting its quantity or accessibility standard as set out in the JLP Figure 

3.2; 
B)  Increasing an already existing deficiency; and/or, 
C)  Reducing opportunities for the area to address its existing deficiencies. 
 
87 ‘A’ There is no impact on the quantity standards due to the site not being designated. 
However, loss of the site would prevent the city-wide standard being improved. Given the local use 
of these spaces, more local assessment is considered to be more important. While the sub area is 
not deficient in amenity green spaces, the loss of the space would decrease access (within 400m 
walk) for a number for properties.  
 
88 ‘B’ An existing deficiency will not be increased (as the space is not included in the current 
calculations).  
 
89 ‘C’ The space could be used to address other deficiencies, but there are no known plans, nor 
funding identified to do this. 

Page 21



 

 

 
90 In summary, the space is therefore determined not to be surplus to requirements. It is a 
moderately sized space that could be improved and currently serves properties that are not 
sufficiently served by other spaces of the same nature and function. The loss of the space should 
therefore be resisted unless there are sufficient public benefits or material planning reasons which 
are afforded significant weight. For the reasons set out above, it is concluded that the proposed 
development conflicts with policy DEV27 of the Joint Local Plan.  
 
91 NI officers along with the case officer acknowledge that the loss of the space must be viewed 
in the context of the critical shortage of housing sites within the city. In order to aid the application 
of the planning balance, NI officers would therefore emphasise that loss in accessibility will be limited 
to a small number of properties and that other, larger, alternative open spaces are located in close 
proximity to the site: There is designated greenspace to the south (113m straight line to nearest 
point) and to the north (185m straight line to the nearest point). It should also be noted that these 
are quite different in function to the informal recreational function that the Wilmot Gardens site 
provides. The greenspace to the south is formal sports facility and the greenspace to the north is 
woodland. 
 
92 It is also noted that the disposal of the site followed a formal Loss of Public Open Space 
process in accordance with Section 123(2A) of the Local Government Act 1972 in 2019/20, which 
included public notification in the local press and consideration of public objections (one was 
submitted). The disposal of the public open space land at Wilmot Gardens for the purposes of 
supporting housing development was confirmed by Council Executive Decision Ref FI01 20/21 dated 
18.11.2020. 
 
Biodiversity Net Gain 
93 This application was received prior to the mandatory requirement for a 10% net gain in 
biodiversity. Therefore, the development must be assessed against DEV26, which requires 
developments to demonstrate “enhancements for wildlife” for non-major applications such as this. 
 
94 However, the applicant submitted a Small Sites Metric (SSM), which showed a loss in habitat 
units. Originally this did include some errors which have since been corrected and verified by the NI 
officers to establish an on-site reduction of 47.38% (equating to 1.7801 biodiversity units). The 
applicant has accepted these corrections and resubmitted a metric showing the corrected results. 
 
95 The SSM includes several assumptions and weightings in order to ensure net gain in every 
scenario. However, this can provide a pessimistic view. In discussion with the Council’s ecological 
consultants, NI officers have confirmed that the metric: 
 
* Prioritises the immediate impacts of development and does not value future biodiversity at a full 
equivalent value. This is achieved through applying a “temporal and risk multiplier” to account for 
time taken for habitats to establish. This is explained on page 22 of the SMS guidance:  
(https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/669e46e0ab418ab055592a25/The_Small_Sites_Metric_
_Statutory_Biodiversity_Metric__-_User_Guide__23.07.2024_.pdf). For illustration, the removal of 
5 small trees, must be replaced with 15 equivalent trees in order to achieve no net loss of 
biodiversity in the metric. 
* Does not account for the likelihood that the 3no. Ash trees onsite (recorded as a loss) will likely 
be lost to ash dieback in the next 10-15 years.  
* The way that proxy is applied to the score of the grassland over-values the biodiversity value of the 
habitat on this site.  
 
96 Despite the metric showing a loss, the SPD only encourages its use, and then only “where 
suitable”. For the reasons stated above, it is not considered a suitable method of determining 

Page 22



 

 

compliance with DEV26 in this case. It is the opinion of NI officers and the opinion of the 
independent ecologist that, in the longer term and due to the number of trees that the applicant is 
planting (29 planted verses 5 lost); the fact that some trees on site are likely to be lost to ash dieback 
in the relative near future regardless of the development; and the installation of bat and bird boxes, 
the development does show enhancements for wildlife and is therefore compliant with DEV26. 
 
97 A number of concerns relating to biodiversity were raised through a Pre-Action Protocol 
(PAP) Letter, received on 12th November 2024 (ref: HAR00001). The letter appears to proceed on 
the basis that the SSM is considered a suitable method to determine compliance with DEV 27 in this 
case. But, as set out above, the Council does not agree.  The SPD clearly states that use of the SSM 
ahead of national requirement will only be required “where suitable”. The letter repeatedly makes 
reference to the results, workings, rules and assumptions of the SSM, when is these attributes that 
have led to the SSM not being considered suitable. 
 
98 Some more specific concerns are summarised below, with the Council’s response 
immediately following: 
 
* PAP para 32, (i):  The council’s assertion that the SSM considered the immediate impact of the 
development is incorrect. 
 
99 The reduction in value of future habitat is acknowledged in the official SSM guidance and can 
be easily demonstrated by examining the temporal and risk modifier within the SSM (see para 95 for 
link). 
 
* PAP para 32, (ii): The council wrongly minimised the baseline three ash trees on site on the basis 
that they were likely to be lost to ash dieback in the next 10-15 years. They form part of the baseline 
calculation in the SSM. 
 
100 They do form part of the baseline calculation in the SSM and this has contributed to the 
Council’s position is that use of the SSM is not appropriate in this case. It is entirely logical to take 
account of the likely future survival of the existing trees. The SSM may not allow this, but 
professional assessment (and DEV27) does. 
 
* PAP para 32, (iii): The council’s statement that the BNG value of the grassland is overvalued in the 
SSM is incorrect. The baseline grassland is identified as ‘Modified grassland’ that holds the lowest 
distinctiveness score available. 
 
101 It is this blanket approach that contributes to the SSM not being suitable in this case. An 
independent ecologist has reviewed the grassland on this site and established that its biodiversity 
value is less in the long term than the package of measures proposed by the applicant. 
 
* PAP para 32, (iv): The officer in his report has conflated the two separate issues of biodiversity net 
gain (measured by reference to the provision of habitat for multiple species to inhabit) and 
enhancements for wildlife (ecological provision for individual species). These are two separate 
requirements. Ecological enhancements form no part of BNG assessments. 
 
102 This is not the case. Clearly an increase in actual biodiversity in the professional assessment 
of an ecologist (as opposed to the proxies, risk modifiers, trading rules etc. applied in the metric) 
also results in enhancements for wildlife. This is the requirement of DEV 27 and the key local plan 
measure applicable to this case. In discussion with the council’s consultant ecologists, the council 
believe that enhancements for wildlife are achieved. 
 

Page 23



 

 

* PAP para 32, (v): While the officer identified that the replacement habitat was of a different type, 
he failed to calculate and/or identify the effect of ‘breach of trading rules’ set out in the headline 
results’ tab. 
 
103 The Council has explicitly acknowledged that the proposals do not satisfy the rules within the 
SSM. However, as the Council is not using the SSM to determine compliance with DEV 27 in this 
case, the trading rules are not applicable. The Council is satisfied that an overall increase in 
biodiversity is achieved, even if through the provision of a different broad habitat type. In any case, 5 
trees are being replaced with 29 overall, so there will be no loss of medium distinctiveness habitat in 
the longer term. 
 
Climate Emergency 
104 A Climate Emergency Compliance Form (CECF) was submitted with the application along 
with an Energy Statement. The Council's Low Carbon Team have reviewed the submitted details and 
consider them to be acceptable. The proposals for this project are specified to achieve the 20% 
carbon savings above Part L to meet planning policy and requirements, through the installation of air 
source heat pumps (ASHPs) and increased thermal values for the project. In addition, there is the 
proposed inclusion of electric vehicle (EV) charging points. The application therefore would not 
conflict with Policy DEV32 of the Joint Local Plan. 
 
Other Matters 
105 Condition 19 sets out the removal of specific permitted development rights for the open 
areas within the site post completion of development. This is to ensure the retention of the 
remaining open spaces which are fundamental to the recommended approval of this application. 
Specifically Condition 19 has addressed the following: 
 
- Removal of right to enclose land by way of fences under Class A of Part 2 of the GPDO, for the 
reason it can preclude public access where Plymouth City Council doesn't have another control 
mechanism in place (such as ownership rights or covenants, or highways HMPE control);  
- Removal of temporary uses of land right under Class B of Part 4, for the reason that the land is not 
curtilage of a residential building  
- Removal of temporary use of land as a temporary recreational campsite under Class BC of Part 4, 
for the same reason as Class B of Part 4.  
- Removal of the Use of the land for a caravan for 2 nights a time, for up to 28 nights in a rolling 12 
month period, under Class A of Part 5 (to be read in conjunction with schedule 2 of Caravan Sites 
and Control of Development Act 1960). 
 
106 Officers have considered whether there should be a further consultation before the 
application is decided. There is no legal obligation to have a further consultation. The decision of the 
High Court is to quash the decision, not any part of the process which led to the quashing. The basis 
of the Council’s acceptance that the decision should be quashed was that it did not provide a 
sufficient mechanism to secure the provision of affordable housing. That flaw has been addressed and 
corrected in the recommendation contained in this report. 
 
107 Nevertheless the Council can still choose whether to consult again as it has power to do so. 
Officers consider that the power need not be exercised in this case.  The Council has ample 
information to decide the application. Consultees have had one opportunity to provide their 
comments. The consultation on the application was a regular one which complied with the 
requirements of the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) 
Order 2015. Officers have considered amongst other things the contents of the email from 
Goodenough Ring Solicitors. Officers do not consider that the matters mentioned in that email are 
sufficient to require re-consultation. The existing consultation allowed individuals to provide 
comment on issues relating to biodiversity and housing need. From time to time there may be 

Page 24



 

 

occasions where policy developments occur after consultation and before decision. In this case 
Officers do not consider that the changes identified require a further round of consultation. In 
reaching this conclusion, regard has been had to Paragraph 026 (Reference ID: 15-026-20190722) of 
Planning Practice Guidance: Consultation and pre-decision matters. 
 
9. Human Rights 
Human Rights Act - The development has been assessed against the provisions of the Human Rights 
Act, and in particular Article 1 of the First Protocol and Article 8 of the Act itself. This Act gives 
further effect to the rights included in the European Convention on Human Rights. In arriving at this 
recommendation, due regard has been given to the applicant's reasonable development rights and 
expectations which have been balanced and weighed against the wider community interests, as 
expressed through third party interests / the Development Plan and Central Government Guidance. 
 
10. Local Finance Considerations 
The Local Planning Authority has assessed that this development will attract an obligation to pay a 
financial levy under the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended). 
 
The proposed scheme will receive a direct financial contribution from the Plan for Homes 
programme with Plymouth City Council receiving a land receipt for the site from the developer on 
completion of the land sale contract. The Service Director has considered that this is a probity issue 
and is therefore in the public interest to be determined by the Planning Committee. 
 
11. Planning Obligations 
The purpose of planning obligations is to mitigate or compensate for adverse impacts of a 
development, or to prescribe or secure something that is needed to make the development 
acceptable in planning terms.  Planning obligations can only lawfully constitute a reason for granting 
planning permission where the three statutory tests of Regulation 122 of the CIL Regulations 2010 
are met. 
 
Planning obligations not sought in this case due to the nature and size of proposal. 
 
12. Equalities and Diversities 
As set out in paragraph 17, DEV9 requires 20% of dwellings on schemes of 5 or more to meet 
national accessibility and adaptability standard M4(2). The proposed development would provide one 
unit (flat one) with the M4(2) standard with provision of the vehicle drop off point immediately 
outside the property. The Local Planning Authority has also had due regard to the loss of local open 
space for residents with mobility issues and has secured retention of on-site provision.  
 
This planning application therefore has had due regard to Section 149 of the Equality Act with regard 
to the Public Sector Equality Duty and has concluded that the application does not cause 
discrimination on the grounds of gender, race and disability. 
 
13. Conclusions and Reasons for Decision 
In reaching a conclusion from the above analysis, the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development set out in paragraph 11d applies, and therefore planning permission should be granted 
unless the specific circumstances set out in sub-points (i) or (ii) in paragraph 11d are satisfied.   
 
Paragraph 11 d) and Footnote 8 of the Framework state that, where the policies which are most 
important for determining the application are out-of-date (including where the Local Planning 
Authority cannot demonstrate a five-year supply of housing land, or where the Housing Delivery 
Test indicates that the delivery of housing was substantially below the housing requirement over the 
previous three years) planning permission should be granted unless at least one of two exceptions 
set out in sub paras (i) and (ii) are met.  

Page 25



 

 

 
Exception (i) relates to whether the application of NPPF policies that protect a pre-specified list of 
assets of particular importance provide a strong reason for refusal.  These are set out in footnote 7 
and not relevant to this application. 
 
It is therefore for us to consider exception (ii) which relates to whether any adverse impacts of 
doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the 
policies in the Framework taken as a whole. Footnote 9 sets out the NPPF policies that this 
particularly relates to. 
 
The report above identifies areas where the proposal does not comply with the Joint Local Plan. The 
areas of policy non-compliance are summarised below: 
 
- Non-compliance with DEV27 (paragraph 2) 
 
Officers acknowledge that the development would not comply with Paragraph 2 of Policy DEV27 as 
there will be a significant loss to the existing open space. Officers have had to consider the status of 
the site as non-designated greenspace, as well as the site being earmarked for residential 
development since December 2019 under the Plan For Homes scheme (whereby any number of 
units permitted on the land would result in the same unavoidable conflict with DEV27). Moreover, 
the scheme is exclusively for much needed affordable housing with 1no. M4(2) compliant accessible 
and adaptable unit. Considering the changes to national guidance since this application was last 
brought to committee, the weight afforded to 5 affordable houses is even greater now. As set out 
above it is afforded significant weight for present purposes. Improvements will be made to the 
remaining green spaces within the site through the inclusion of improved open green space along the 
eastern boundary as well as a 'Community Garden' to the south, which provides some mitigation to 
the loss of greenspace. 
 
Overall, it is considered that the public benefits that the scheme affords, in particular the significant 
weight afforded to providing affordable housing, outweigh the one area of non-compliance in respect 
of DEV27. Further, as it is necessary to apply the ‘tilted balance’, Officers consider that the adverse 
impacts of permitting the application would not significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, 
when assessed against the policies in the Framework taken as a whole. The application is therefore 
recommended for conditional approval. 

 

14. Recommendation 

In respect of the application dated 25.03.2024 it is recommended to Grant Conditionally. 

 

15. Conditions / Reasons 
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved 
plans:  

  
1 CONDITION: APPROVED PLANS 

  
Preliminary Levels Strategy C21003 - SKC - 001 Rev E  received 22/03/24 
Drainage Maintenance Plan C21003_C011 Rev C  received 22/03/24 
Exceedance Runoff Plan C21003_C012 Rev B  received 22/03/24 
Arboricultural Impact Assessment Plan EV-4615-AIA (Plan) Rev A  received 01/05/24 
Proposed Drainage Plan C21003_C010 Rev D  received 18/06/24 
Site Plan Indicating Landscaping P1023-02 Rev F  received 18/06/24 
Proposed Dwelling Elevations (Plots 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5) P1023-04 Rev C  received 16/08/24 

Page 26



 

 

Proposed Floor Plans P1023-03 Rev C  received 16/08/24 
 
Reason: 
For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of good planning, in accordance with the Plymouth & 
South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014–2034 (2019). 
 
 2 CONDITION: COMMENCE WITHIN 3 YEARS 
 
The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years beginning 
from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason: 
To comply with Section 51 of the Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
 
 3 CONDITION: AFFORDABLE HOUSING 
 
PRE-COMMENCEMENT 
  
No development shall take place until a scheme for affordable housing has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The affordable housing shall be provided in 
accordance with the approved scheme and shall meet the definition of affordable housing in Annex 2: 
Glossary of National Planning Policy Framework 2024 or any future guidance that replaces it. The 
scheme shall include: 
 
1) The arrangements for the transfer of affordable housing to an affordable housing provider 
 
2) The arrangements to ensure that such provision is affordable for both first and subsequent 
occupiers of the affordable housing; and 
 
3) The occupancy criteria to be used for determining the identify of occupiers of the affordable 
housing and the means by which such occupancy criteria shall be enforced. 
 
The affordable housing shall be retained in perpetuity in accordance with the approved scheme. 
 
Reason: 
To ensure that the development provides much needed affordable units in compliance with Policy 
DEV7 of the Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014-2034 (2019) and Section 5 of 
the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
Justification:  
The delivery of 5 affordable housing units would make an important contribution to the City's urgent 
need for affordable housing. 
 
 4 CONDITION: CONSTRUCTION ENVIRONMENT MANAGEMENT PLAN 
 
PRE-COMMENCEMENT 
 
No development shall take place (including demolition, ground works, vegetation clearance) until a 
Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP: Biodiversity) has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved CEMP shall be adhered to and 
implemented throughout the construction period strictly in accordance with the approved details 
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. It shall include the following: 
i. Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities. 

Page 27



 

 

ii. Identification of 'biodiversity protection zones'. 
iii. Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working practices) to avoid or minimise 
impacts on biodiversity during construction (may be provided as a set of method statements). 
iv. The location and timing of sensitive works to avoid harm to biodiversity features. This includes 
the use of protective fences, exclusion barriers, warning signs and non-native invasive species 
protocol. 
v. The times during construction when specialist ecologists need to be present on site to monitor 
works to ensure compliance with the CEMP: Biodiversity, and the actions that will be undertaken 
(including mitigation, compensation and enhancement purposes). 
vi. Responsible persons and lines of communication, including the role and responsibilities on site of 
an Ecological Clerk of Works (ECoW) or similarly competent person. 
vii. Ongoing monitoring, including compliance checks by competent name person(s) during 
construction and immediately post-construction. 
 
The approved CEMP shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the construction period 
strictly in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: 
In the interests of the retention, protection and enhancement of wildlife and features of biological 
interest in accordance with Joint Local Plan Policies SPT12 and DEV26 of the adopted Plymouth & 
South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014-2034 and Section 15 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 
Justification: The submission of a CEMP is required as the site contains a variety of ecological 
features. 
 
 5 CONDITION: LANDSCAPE DETAILS 
 
PRE-COMMENCEMENT 
 
No development shall take place until the details of the landscape works have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. 
 
The landscape works (to include specific reference to the 29 replacement trees as set out in table 4 
of the Arboricultural Impact Assessment or alternative suitable sites) shall include: 
i. Soft landscape details: 
a. Full soft landscape specification; plant species and size (to HTA standards), soil details, planting 
spec and establishment care. 
b. The arrangement of proposed soft landscape elements and soil layouts/elevations (min 1:200 
scale). Plans should include a planting schedule for reference. 
c. Planting details (1:20 scale or as appropriate). 
d. All new trees will require a minimum of 15m3 root zone that is free from compaction and filled 
with soil conforming to BS3882 (2015). The root zone should be calculated based on 900mm depth 
of soil only. The applicant will need to specify sufficient underground crating to provide a 15m3 root 
zone where compaction from vehicles may occur.  
 
ii. Hard Landscape Details: to provide: 
a. Drawings identifying the arrangement of proposed hard landscape elements including (but not 
limited to) paving materials, street furniture and boundary treatment materials (min 1:200 scale). 
b. Plans should include a specification of the hard landscape materials (e.g. paving materials), street 
furniture and any boundary treatments. 
c. Boundary treatment details (1:20 scale or as appropriate) e.g. mesh surrounding car park. 
 

Page 28



 

 

All landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. The works shall be 
carried out prior to the occupation of any part of the development. Any dead or defective planting 
shall be replaced with a period of 5 years. 
 
Reason: 
To ensure that satisfactory landscaping works are carried out in accordance with JLP policies DEV20, 
DEV23, DEV26 and DEV28 of the adopted Plymouth & South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014-
2034 and Section 15 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
Justification:  
Landscaping details are required to ensure that development scheme meets the landscaping 
standards as outlined in the Joint Local Plan, to ensure the landscaping can be properly incorporated 
within the development proposals. 
 
 6 CONDITION: LANDSCAPE AND ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT PLAN 
 
PRE-DAMP PROOF COURSE 
 
A Landscape and Environmental Management Plan (LEMP) shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to development above damp proof course. The 
approved LEMP shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the construction period strictly in 
accordance with the approved details unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority. The content of the LEMP shall include the following: 
 
i. Description and evaluation of features to be managed, including extent of proposed works shown 
on appropriate scale maps and plans. 
ii. Ecological trends and constraints on site that might influence management. 
iii. Aims and objectives of management for both the landscape elements and the biodiversity features. 
iv. Set out maintenance operations for the first year following implementation of the scheme and for 
the ongoing maintenance and management. 
v. Preparation of a work schedule, demonstrating that works are aligned with the proposed phasing 
of construction. 
vi. Body or organisation responsible for implementation of the plan. 
vii. Monitoring and remedial measures, which should liaise with long-term maintenance initiatives. 
 
The LEMP shall also include details of the legal and funding mechanism(s) by which the long term 
implementation of the plan will be secured by the developer with the management body(s) 
responsible for its delivery. The plan shall also set out (where the results from monitoring show that 
conservation aims and objectives of the LEMP are not being met) how contingencies and/or remedial 
action will be identified, agreed and implemented so that the development still delivers the fully 
functioning biodiversity objectives of the originally approved scheme. The approved plan will be 
implemented in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason:  
In the interests of the retention, protection and enhancement of wildlife and features of biological 
interest in accordance with Joint Local Plan Policies SPT12, DEV20, DEV23 and DEV26 of the 
adopted Plymouth & South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014-2034 and Section 15 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 29



 

 

 7 CONDITION: ACCESSIBLE HOUSING 
 
PRE-OCCUPATION 
 
A minimum of 1no. of the dwellings shall be built to meet national standards for accessibility and 
adaptability (Category M4(2) of the Building Regulations); in accordance with the Accessible Housing 
Statement that is contained in the Design and Access Statement. 
 
Prior to the occupation of the M4(2) compliant dwelling, an independent verification report shall be 
provided which confirms that the dwelling has been constructed to the required specification. The 
report shall also set out the qualifications of the examiner who undertakes the verification. This 
dwelling shall remain an M4(2) compliant dwelling in perpetuity. 
 
Reason: 
To ensure that the development provides a range of house types to meet accessibility and 
adaptability needs to comply with Policy DEV9 of the Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local 
Plan 2014-2034 (2019). 
 
 8 CONDITION: CYCLE PROVISION 
 
PRE-OCCUPATION 
 
No dwelling shall be occupied until space has been laid out within the site in accordance with the 
approved plan for a minimum of 10 bicycles to be securely parked (1 per bedspace). The secure area 
for storing bicycles shown on the approved plan shall remain available for its intended purpose and 
shall not be used for any other purpose. 
 
Reason: 
In order to promote cycling as an alternative to the use of private cars in accordance with Policy 
DEV29 of the Plymouth & South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014-2034 and Section 9 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
 9 CONDITION: LOW CARBON MITIGATION 
 
PRE-OCCUPATION 
 
The dwellings hereby approved shall not be occupied until the Air Source Heat Pumps (ASHP) and 
Electric Vehicle Charging Points (EVCP) as shown on the approved plans, have been installed (as per 
drawing: P1023 - 02 REV F). The ASHPs and EVCPs shall then remain in situ in perpetuity, replacing 
or repairing them when necessary. Moreover, the development shall be carried out and completed in 
accordance with the submitted Energy and Sustainability Assessment Report (submitted 22nd March, 
2024).  
 
Reason: 
In order to promote on-site renewable energy systems and ensure a reduction in carbon emissions 
in line with policy DEV32 of the Plymouth & South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014-2034, 
paragraph 7.3 of the Plymouth and South West Devon Climate Emergency Planning Statement 
(2022) and Sections 2 and 14 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 30



 

 

10 CONDITION: ARBORICULTURAL IMPACT PLAN 
 
COMPLIANCE 
 
The development hereby approved shall be carried out in strict accordance with the approved 
Arboricultural Impact Assessment (received 22nd March, 2024) and Arboricultural Impact 
Assessment Plan (ref: EV-4615-AIA (PLAN) REV A) (received 1st May, 2024).   
 
Reason:  
In the interests of the retention, protection and enhancement of wildlife and features of biological 
interest in accordance with Joint Local Plan Policies SPT12, DEV20, DEV23 and DEV26 of the 
adopted Plymouth & South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014-2034 and Section 15 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 
 
11 CONDITION: TREE PROTECTION/RETENTION 
 
COMPLIANCE 
 
In this condition "retained tree or hedgerow" means an existing tree or hedgerow which is to be 
retained in accordance with the approved plans and particulars; and paragraphs (a) and (b) below 
shall have effect until the expiration of 5 years from the commencement of development. 
 
A: No retained tree or hedgerow shall be cut down, uprooted or destroyed, nor shall any tree be 
pruned other than in accordance with the approved plans and particulars, without the written 
approval of the Local Planning Authority. Any pruning approved shall be carried out in accordance 
with BS 3998: 2010 Tree Work Recommendations. 
 
B: If any retained tree or hedgerow is removed, uprooted or destroyed or dies, or pruned in breach 
of (a) above in a manner which, in the opinion of the Local Planning Authority, leaves it in such a 
poor condition that it is unlikely to recover and/or attain its previous amenity value, another tree or 
hedgerow shall be planted at the same place and that tree or hedgerow shall be of such size and 
species, and shall be planted at such time, as may be specified in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 
 
Reason: 
To ensure that trees or hedgerows retained are protected during construction work and thereafter 
are properly maintained, if necessary by replacement, in accordance with Policies DEV1, DEV20 and 
DEV26 of the Plymouth & South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014-2034 and Section 15 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
12 CONDITION: ECOLOGICAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
COMPLIANCE 
 
The development hereby approved shall be carried out in strict accordance with the approved 
Ecological Impact Assessment (received 18th June, 2024).  
 
Reason:  
In the interests of the retention, protection and enhancement of wildlife and features of biological 
interest in accordance with Joint Local Plan Policies SPT12, DEV20, DEV23 and DEV26 of the 
adopted Plymouth & South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014-2034 and Section 15 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 
 

Page 31



 

 

13 CONDITION: DRAINAGE 
 
COMPLIANCE 
 
The development hereby approved shall be carried out in strict accordance with the submitted 
Proposed Drainage Plan (ref: C21003-C010 REV D) (received 18th June, 2024).  
 
Reason: 
To safeguard occupant amenity and mitigate flood risk in accordance with policies DEV1 and DEV35 
of the adopted Plymouth & South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014-2034 and Section 14 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
14 CONDITION: CONSTRUCTION TRAFFIC AND ENVIRONMENT 
MANAGEMENT PLAN 
 
COMPLIANCE 
 
The development hereby approved shall be carried out in strict accordance with the submitted 
Construction Traffic and Environment Management Plan (CTMP) (received 22nd July, 2024).  
 
Reason:  
To ensure that the traffic and general construction impacts associated with the construction phase of 
the works does not lead to adverse impacts upon the operation of the local road network as well as 
ecological / watercourse features within and around the site in accordance with Policies DEV1, 
DEV2, DEV29 and DEV35 of the adopted Plymouth & South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014-2034 
and Sections 9 and 14 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
15 CONDITION: HIGHWAY DILAPIDATION SURVEY 
 
COMPLIANCE 
 
The approved scheme shall be carried out in accordance with the submitted Highway Dilapidation 
Survey Report (received 18th June, 2024).  
 
Reason: 
To ensure that any damage to the existing highway infrastructure arising from the construction of 
the proposed development is properly recorded and addressed by the developer on completion of 
the works in the interests of the safety of all users of the highway in accordance with Policy DEV29 
of the adopted Plymouth & South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014-2034 and Section 9 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
16 CONDITION: CAR PARKING PROVISION 
 
COMPLIANCE 
 
Each parking space shown on the approved plans (ref: P1023 - 02 REV F) shall be constructed, 
drained, surfaced and shall not be used for any purpose other than the parking of vehicles and for 
vehicles to turn so that they may enter and leave the site in forward gear. 
 
Reason: 
To enable vehicles used by occupiers or visitors to be parked off the public highway and enter and 
leave the site safely, so as to avoid damage to amenity and interference with the free flow of traffic 

Page 32



 

 

on the highway in accordance with Policy DEV29 of the Plymouth & South West Devon Joint Local 
Plan 2014-2034 and Section 9 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
17 CONDITION: PRESERVATION OF SIGHT LINES 
 
COMPLIANCE 
 
In accordance with the approved Site Plan drawing (ref: P1023 - 02 REV F), no structure, erection, or 
other obstruction exceeding 600mm in height shall be placed, and no vegetation shall be allowed to 
grow above that height, within the approved sight lines to the site access/egress at any time. 
 
Reason:  
To preserve adequate visibility for drivers of vehicles at the road junction in the interests of public 
safety in accordance with Policy DEV29 of the adopted Plymouth & South West Devon Joint Local 
Plan 2014-2034 and Section 9 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
18 CONDITION: LAND QUALITY - REPORTING OF UNEXPECTED 
CONTAMINATION 
 
COMPLIANCE 
 
In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved development 
that was not previously identified; it must be reported in writing immediately to the Local Planning 
Authority. Development must be halted on that part of the site affected by the unexpected 
contamination to the extent specified by the Local Planning Authority in writing until this condition 
has been complied with in relation to that contamination. An investigation and risk assessment shall 
be undertaken subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority, and where 
remediation is necessary a remediation scheme shall be prepared subject to the approval in writing 
of the Local Planning Authority. Following completion of measures identified in the approved 
remediation scheme a verification report shall be prepared, which is subject to the approval in 
writing of the Local Planning Authority. 
  
Reason: 
To ensure that risks from land contamination to the environment, future users of the land and 
neighbouring land are minimised, to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without 
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors; and to avoid conflict with 
Policies DEV1 and DEV2 of the Plymouth & South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014-2034 and 
Section 15 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
19 CONDITION: REMOVAL OF PERMITTED DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS 
 
COMPLIANCE 
 
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking and re-enacting that order with or without 
modification), the permitted uses and development types set out in Class A of Part 2, Classes B and 
BC of Part 4 and Class A of Part 5 shall not be carried out without the written consent of the Local 
Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: 
The Local Planning Authority considers that, the use of the open spaces within the site boundary for 
the purpose specified is appropriate, but that a proposal to use or develop these public open spaces 
within the site boundary for any other purpose would need to be made the subject of a separate 

Page 33



 

 

application to be considered on its merits in accordance with policies DEV1 and DEV20 of the 
adopted Plymouth & South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014-2034 and Section 4 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 
 

 
INFORMATIVES 

 
 
 1 INFORMATIVE: (CIL LIABLE) DEVELOPMENT LIABLE FOR COMMUNITY 
INFRASTRUCTURE CONTRIBUTION 
 
The Local Planning Authority has assessed that this development will attract an obligation to pay a 
financial levy under the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended).  Details of 
the process can be found on our website at www.plymouth.gov.uk/CIL.  You can contact the Local 
Planning Authority at any point to discuss your liability calculation; however a formal Liability 
Notice will only be issued by the Local Planning Authority once "planning permission first permits 
development" as defined by the CIL Regulations.  You must ensure that you submit any relevant 
forms and get any pre-commencement details agreed before commencing work.  Failure to do so 
may result in surcharges or enforcement action. 
 
Further information on CIL can be found on our website here: 
https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/planninganddevelopment/planningapplications/communityinfrastructur
elevy 
 
More information and CIL Forms can be accessed via the Planning Portal: 
https://www.planningportal.co.uk/info/200126/applications/70/community_infrastructure_levy/5 
 
More detailed information on CIL including process flow charts, published by the Ministry of 
Housing, Local Communities and Government can also be found here: 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/community-infrastructure-levy 
 
 2 INFORMATIVE: CONDITIONAL APPROVAL (NEGOTIATION) 
 
In accordance with the requirements of Article 31 of the Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2010 and the National Planning Policy 
Framework, the Council has worked in a positive and pro-active way with the Applicant including 
pre-application discussions and has negotiated amendments to the application to enable the grant of 
planning permission. 
 
 3 INFORMATIVE: COUNCIL CODE OF PRACTICE 
 
The applicant is directed to the Council's Code of Practice by the Public Protection Service 
(Control of Pollution and Noise from Demolition and Construction Sites): 
https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/sites/default/files/ConstructionCodeOfPractice.pdf 
 
 4 INFORMATIVE: COMMERCIAL VEHICLE CROSSING 
 
The applicant should contact the Highway Authority to facilitate the works in the highway by way 
of a licence and fees in accordance with this authority's procedure for the construction of a 
Commercial Vehicle Crossing. 
 
 
 

Page 34



 

 

 5 INFORMATIVE: PUBLIC HIGHWAY APPROVAL 
 
This planning permission does not authorise the applicant to carry out works within the publicly 
maintained highway. The applicant should contact Plymouth Highways for the necessary approval. 
Precise details of all works within the public highway must be agreed with the Highway Authority 
and an appropriate Permit must be obtained before works commence. 
 
 6 INFORMATIVE: WILDLIFE PROTECTION 
 
The proposed works would involve the removal of trees in order to facilitate the development 
which may provide suitability for bats or breeding birds. Under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 
(1981), bats and breeding birds are legally protected against disturbance, injury or killing and bat 
roosts are protected against obstruction, damage or destruction. If bats or a bat roost are present 
in the treeline, a licence to carry out the works from Natural England may be required. For further 
information please contact Plymouth City Council's Natural Infrastructure Officers. 
 
 7 INFORMATIVE: YELLOW FISH GUIDANCE MANUAL 
 
To protect against contamination of the water environment, it is recommended that the 'Yellow 
Fish' scheme is used for surface water gullies and drainage features as outlined in the 'Yellow Fish 
Guidance Manual'. 
 
This is required to supplement and not replace any proposed pollution prevention devices 
proposed for the surface water drainage system. 
http://oilcare.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/Guidance-Manual-for-Yellow-Fish-ENGLISH.pdf 
 
 8 INFORMATIVE: BIODIVERSITY NET GAIN EXEMPTION 
 
In accordance with The Biodiversity Gain Requirements (Exemptions) Regulations 2024, minor 
applications made before 2nd April 2024 are exempt from Biodiversity Net Gain requirements and 
therefore this application is not subject to the mandatory Biodiversity Gain condition. 
 
 9 INFORMATIVE: SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS 
 
The following supporting documents have been considered in relation to this application: 
- Accessible and Adaptable Dwellings Statement 
- Arboricultural Impact Assessment 
- BNG Headline Results Table  
- Energy and Sustainability Assessment Report 
- Preliminary Ecological Appraisal REV 01 
- Residential Accommodation Statement 
- Phase 2 - Ground Investigation Report 
- Construction Traffic and Environmental Management Plan 
- Design Calculations 
- Ecological Impact Assessment Report 
- Environmental Considerations 
- Highway Dilapidation Survey Report 
- Small Sites Metric 
 

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



 

   

PLANNING APPLICATION 
OFFICERS REPORT 

 
 

Site Address 186 - 190 Keyham Road  Plymouth  PL2 1RB       

Proposal 
Removal of Condition 1 (Temporary Use: Reinstatement) of planning 
permission 20/02031/S73 to allow the current B8 use to continue 
permanently 

Applicant Liam Lynch 

Application Type Removal or variation of a condition 

Target Date    08.04.2025 
Committee 
Date 24.07.2025 

Extended Target Date 31.07.2025   

Decision Category Councillor Referral 

Case Officer Mr Daniel Thorning 

Recommendation Grant Conditionally 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Application 
Number   25/00236/S73  Item 2 

Date Valid 11.02.2025  Ward DEVONPORT 

Page 37 Agenda Item 6.2



 

 

 
 
This application has been referred to the Planning Committee by Councillors Anne Freeman and 
Mark Coker and because the proposal is a departure from an allocation in the Joint Local Plan. 
 
1. Description of Site 
The 0.7-hectare application site comprises an open storage depot on Keyham Road in the Morice 
Town neighbourhood. It comprises a large, open and level area of land that was a former gas works, 
bounded by terraced residential properties to the south, Keyham Road (off which access is provided) 
and Devonport Dockyard to the west, and surface level car parks to the north and east. The general 
topography of the area rises from north to south and as a result, the residential properties to the 
south sit significantly higher than the application site. 
 
2. Proposal Description 
Planning application ref. 16/00477/FUL granted permission for the site to be used for open air 
storage (B8) for up to 5 years. The temporary consent was effectively renewed for a further 5 years 

Page 38



 

 

by application ref. 20/02031/S73, which requires the temporary use to be discontinued and the land 
restored to its former condition no later than 15 March 2026. The current application proposes the 
removal of Condition 1 (Temporary Use: Reinstatement) of application ref. 20/02031/S73 to allow 
the current B8 use to continue permanently. 
 
3. Pre-application Enquiry 
There was no pre-application enquiry. 
 
4. Relevant Planning History 
20/02031/S73 - Variation of Condition 10 (Temporary Use: Reinstatement) of application 
16/00477/FUL to allow current B8 use to continue for a further 5 years - Granted conditionally 
 
16/00477/FUL - Change of use to open storage (B8) - Granted conditionally with a 5 year temporary 
consent 
 
03/01517/FUL - Retrospective application for temporary consent to retain buildings and use of site 
for letting, sales and maintenance of portable modular buildings - Granted conditionally 
 
01/00165/OUT - Outline application to develop land by the erection of a new food store (997sq.m 
net) and a B1 business unit together with new access and car parking (revised scheme) - Refused 
 
5. Consultation Responses 
Police Designing Out Crime - no objection. 
 
Historic Environment Team - objection as no heritage statement has been submitted. 
 
Local Highway Authority - no objection. 
 
Public Protection - no comment. 
 
Urban Design - objection due to the harmful impact on the streetscape. 
 
6. Representations 
The Local Planning Authority (LPA) has received 18 letters of objection and no letters of support. 
The objections highlight adverse impacts associated with the current use of the site. These impacts 
include: 
 
- Excess noise, vibration, light, and working hours 
- Dust affecting health, property and air quality 
- Overspill car parking 
- Intensification of use 
 
The objections highlight concerns regarding unauthorised development and operations allegedly 
taking place outside the permitted hours of operation. These are enforcement issues that are not 
material to the current application. 
 
7. Relevant Policy Framework 
Section 70 of the 1990 Town and Country Planning Act requires that regard be had to the 
development plan, any local finance, and any other material considerations. Section 38(6) of the 2004 
Planning and Compensation Act requires that applications be to be determined in accordance with 
the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. For the purposes of decision 
making, as on 26 March 2019, the Plymouth & South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014 - 2034 
(hereinafter referred to as the JLP) is now part of the development plan for Plymouth City Council, 

Page 39



 

 

South Hams District Council and West Devon Borough Council (other than parts of South Hams 
and West Devon within Dartmoor National Park). 
 
Other material considerations include the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 
1990 and the policies of the National Planning Policy Framework (2024) (NPPF), Planning Practice 
Guidance (PPG), the Plymouth & South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014-2034 Supplementary 
Planning Document (2020) (SPD) and the Climate Emergency Planning Statement (2022) (CEPS). 
 
8. Analysis 
1. Section 73 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) enables an application 
to be made to an LPA to vary or remove conditions associated with a planning permission. The 
Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) explains that one of the uses of a section 73 application is to seek 
a minor material amendment, where there is a relevant condition that can be varied. There is no 
statutory definition of a 'minor material amendment'. However, the PPG states that "it is likely to 
include any amendment where its scale and/or nature results in a development which is not 
substantially different from the one which has been approved". In this case officers have determined 
that the amendments proposed can be dealt with via a section 73 application. 
 
2. It should be noted that, in deciding an application under section 73, the LPA must only 
consider the condition/s that are the subject of the application - it is not a complete re-consideration 
of the application. The primary considerations for this application include the principle of 
development, design, heritage, amenity, and highway safety. The following JLP policies are considered 
particularly relevant:  
 
DEV1 Protecting health and amenity 
DEV2 Air, water, soil, noise, land and light 
DEV20 Place shaping and the quality of the built environment 
DEV21 Development affecting the historic environment 
DEV23 Landscape character 
DEV26 Protecting and enhancing biodiversity and geological conservation 
DEV29 Specific provisions relating to transport 
 
Principle of Development and Visual Impacts  
3. The proposal is contrary to Policy PLY58(1) of the JLP, which allocates the site for a medium 
sized food retail store with upgraded traffic signals, car parking and improved pedestrian and cycling 
connections from the surrounding streets. A temporary use condition was imposed on application 
ref. 20/02031/S73 to allow the 'meanwhile use' to continue until such time that a longer term, policy 
compliant proposal could come forward. However, the applicant has advised that it has not received 
any interest from food store operators. The Planning Statement contains correspondence from Aldi 
and Lidl that confirms that the site is not attractive to these retailers given its spatial constraints and 
proximity to existing operational stores. The Planning Statement suggests the site would not be 
attractive to larger format food retailers such as Tesco, Asda, Morrisons or Sainsburys, and 
therefore it concludes that the site is highly unlikely to come forward for its allocated use. Officers 
consider that there are medium scale food retailers other than Aldi or Lidl, however, the evidence 
provided suggests that the site may not be commercially attractive for the allocated use. While this is 
not a comprehensive assessment, no contrary evidence is available at present. 
 
4. The site currently functions as the national headquarters for the marine division of Denholm 
Industrial Services, which provides scaffolding, shot blasting, painting, cleaning, rescue, rope access, 
acoustic tiling, and supplementary services, with the majority of its work taking place in HMNB 
Devonport. The Planning Statement details the benefits of locating its operations near the Dockyard. 
These include minimising vehicle movements and carbon emissions, providing storage space for the 
Dockyard, and providing operational efficiencies for Denholm and the Dockyard.  

Page 40



 

 

 
5. The marine sector is identified in the JLP (Strategic Objective SO2, PLY2, PLY3, PLY4, 
DEV14) and in the Plymouth Economic Strategy as a key transformational opportunity for Plymouth. 
The proposal allows Denholm to provide ongoing support to the Dockyard from a nearby location. 
Given the low immediate likelihood of a food retail proposal coming forward, the Local Planning 
Authority (LPA) sees merit in allowing Denholm to continue operating from the site to avoid 
adverse impacts on the operation of the Dockyard and the marine and defence sectors whilst not 
limiting the future potential of the site to be developed for the use identified in the allocation. 
 
6. However, there are concerns regarding the appearance of the site and the impact on the 
surrounding townscape and character. Keyham Road is a busy road that is bounded by the hostile 
Dockyard wall and dwellings that are set back behind stone retaining structures. There is an 
expectation that a policy compliant food retail store would deliver a high-quality building that would 
help to repair and enhance the townscape and complement the existing range of public amenities. 
However, the open storage use does not meet good standards of design by virtue of its inactive 
frontage, stacked shipping containers and scaffold structures, and general industrial aesthetic. For 
these reasons, the Urban Design Team has objected to the proposal; and the proposal is considered 
contrary to policies DEV20 and DEV23 of the JLP. 
 
7. It is accepted that the site has been used for open storage since 2016, and the site is well-
suited to the operational requirements of Denholm and the Dockyard. It also provides a valuable use 
that supports the marine and defence sectors on a heavily constrained site. Therefore officers 
consider that it would be appropriate to agree another five-year consent to enable ongoing use of 
the site whilst the applicant prepares a new application for permanent B8 use and which proposes 
improvements to the appearance of site, particularly the site's street frontage. An extension may also 
allow further investigation of the food retail sector to establish the potential operators' 
aspirations/interest in the site for the purposes proposed in Policy PLY58(1). Therefore providing all 
other material considerations are acceptable, officers recommend that Condition 1 of application 
20/02031/S73 is reapplied to allow the temporary open storage use to continue for another five 
years. 
 
8. In reaching this recommendation, officers have had regard to section 72 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 and paragraph 014 (Reference ID: 21a-014-20140306) of the PPG, which 
set out the circumstances where temporary planning permissions may be appropriate. These include 
scenarios where a trial run is needed in order to assess the effect of the development on the area or 
where it is expected that the planning circumstances will change in a particular way at the end of that 
period. A temporary planning permission may also be appropriate to enable the temporary use of 
vacant land or buildings prior to any longer-term proposals coming forward (a 'meanwhile use'). The 
PPG states it is rarely justifiable to grant a second temporary consent except in cases where changing 
circumstances provide a clear rationale. In this case it is considered that permanent use of the site 
for open storage could be acceptable but not in its current form without design amendments.  
 
Heritage 
9. The Historic Environment Team has advised that there are several listed buildings and non-
designated assets that have the capacity to be affected by the proposal including:  
 
- The Quadrangle (N173-177, 186-191, 203) NHLE number 1378566 (Grade I)  
- Revetment wall to the east of The Quadrangle NHLE number 354711 (Grade II) 
- Dock Pumping Station (N 114 and 115) NHLE number 1378571 (Grade II) 
 
10. These are of national significance, with Grade 1 listed buildings being of the highest 
importance. The Historic Environment Officer has advised that any current impacts to their setting 
and significance are thought to be low given the temporary use of the site. However, any cumulative 

Page 41



 

 

and secondary effects produced by permanent operations on the site have not been addressed and 
cannot be assessed without the appropriate technical information. Paragraph 207 of the NPPF 
requires applicants to describe the significance of any heritage assets affected by development 
proposals. Officers therefore consider that insufficient information has been submitted to assess 
compliance with policies SPT11 and DEV21 of the JLP and section 16 of the NPPF. However, it is 
considered that the recommendation of agreeing a further five-year consent would overcome this 
conflict, and a heritage statement would be required to support a future application for permanent 
use.  
 
Amenity 
11. The LPA has received 18 objections referring to residential amenity impacts including noise, 
vibration, light, and dust. Several objections refer to shot blasting that is taking place within an 
industrial unit that has been constructed on the site. The applicant has acknowledged that industrial 
operations such as shot blasting fall outside of the consent for open storage use and that planning 
permission is required for the industrial unit that has been constructed. A planning enforcement case 
(ref. 25/00093/ENF) has been created to address the planning contraventions.  
 
12. The letters of objection suggest that the noise and vibration impacts are caused by the shot 
blasting. The proposal is to allow the open storage to continue and therefore impacts associated 
with unauthorised use of the development for B2 industrial processes are not material to the 
application and should be addressed through the enforcement regime.  
 
13. The applicant has advised that there has been a recent reorganisation of the site. 
Furthermore, the site was recently resurfaced, with stone brought to the site and compacted over a 
period of two months from January to March 2025. The applicant has suggested that this process 
likely accounts for the noise, vibration, and dust. The Public Protection Service raised no objections 
to the development, and no complaints have been received prior to the current application. 
Therefore there is no evidence to suggest that recent noise objections were caused by the storage 
and distribution use of the site. 
 
14. The existing permission requires that no machinery be operated, no process carried out, and 
no deliveries taken at or despatched from the site outside the following times: 07:00-21:00 Monday 
to Friday inclusive, 07:00-19:00 Saturday, Sundays and bank holidays. Use of the site is more intensive 
that was initially proposed and therefore officers recommend amending Condition 5 (Hours of 
operation) to reduce the hours to 07:00-19:00 Monday to Friday inclusive, 07:00-17:00 Saturdays, 
and 10:00-14:00 on Sundays and bank holidays. This is considered necessary to comply with policies 
DEV1 and DEV2 of the JLP. The applicant has advised that operations are unlikely to operate on 
Sundays and bank holidays with Sunday working being very ad hoc. However, the option to operate 
on Sundays is required as the operator needs to retain flexibility to respond to when operations 
need to be reactive to tide times or emergency situations that fall outside of the main working days.   
 
Highway Safety 
15. The Local Highway Authority has advised that the use has been operational since 2016 with 
no transport-related issues having been raised. Condition 2 of application ref. 20/02031/S73 requires 
at least four onsite car parking spaces to be provided. However, space has been laid out for 
significantly more parking onsite. The proposal is therefore considered compliant with Policy DEV29 
of the JLP. 
 
Other Considerations 
16. The proposal does not affect trees or habitat and therefore there are no natural 
infrastructure considerations. Mandatory BNG does not apply to section 73 applications to amend 
applications that were granted prior to 12 February 2024. 
 

Page 42



 

 

9. Human Rights 
Human Rights Act - The development has been assessed against the provisions of the Human Rights 
Act, and in particular Article 1 of the First Protocol and Article 8 of the Act itself. This Act gives 
further effect to the rights included in the European Convention on Human Rights. In arriving at this 
recommendation, due regard has been given to the applicant's reasonable development rights and 
expectations which have been balanced and weighed against the wider community interests, as 
expressed through third party interests / the Development Plan and Central Government Guidance. 
 
10. Local Finance Considerations 
There are no local finance considerations. 
 
11. Planning Obligations 
The purpose of planning obligations is to mitigate or compensate for adverse impacts of a 
development, or to prescribe or secure something that is needed to make the development 
acceptable in planning terms.  Planning obligations can only lawfully constitute a reason for granting 
planning permission where the three statutory tests of Regulation 122 of the CIL Regulations 2010 
are met. 
 
No planning obligations have been sought in respect of this application. 
 
12. Equalities and Diversities 
This planning application has had due regard to Section 149 of the Equality Act regarding the Public 
Sector Equality Duty and has concluded the application does not cause discrimination on the grounds 
of gender, race, and disability.  
 
13. Conclusions and Reasons for Decision 
Officers have taken account of the NPPF and S38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004 and determined that the proposal is contrary to policies PLY58(1), DEV20 and DEV23 of the 
JLP and section 12 of the NPPF. However, there are no current proposals to deliver the site in 
accordance with the allocation, and the proposed development supports the important marine and 
defence sectors. The LPA sees merit in supporting the ongoing use of the site for open storage but 
not in its current form. Therefore officers recommend re-applying the temporary use condition to 
allow the applicant to continue using the site whilst it prepares an application that also proposes 
improvements to the appearance of the site. The hours of operation have also been reduced to 
protect against amenity impacts. Subject to applying these conditions, officers consider the proposal 
to be acceptable without prejudicing potential future use of the site for the use identified in the 
allocation. The application is therefore recommended for conditional approval. 

 

14. Recommendation 

In respect of the application dated 11.02.2025 it is recommended to Grant Conditionally. 

 

15. Conditions / Reasons 
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved 
plans:  

  
 1 CONDITION: TEMPORARY USE (REINSTATEMENT) 
 
The use hereby permitted shall be discontinued after 5 years from the date of this decision notice 
and the land restored to its former condition in accordance with a scheme of work that shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before any works commence 
on restoring the site to its former condition. 

Page 43



 

 

 
Reason: 
In the opinion of the Local Planning Authority the temporary use to which this permission relates 
will by the said date have fulfilled its required purpose. This condition is imposed to comply with 
policies DEV20 and DEV23 of the Plymouth & South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014-2034 (2019) 
and Sections 11 and 12 the National Planning Policy Framework (2024). 
 
 2 CONDITION: MINIMUM CAR PARKING PROVISION 
 
The operators of the site shall ensure that space has been laid out within the site in accordance with 
details previously submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority for a 
minimum of 4 cars to be parked and for vehicles to turn so that they may enter and leave the site in 
forward gear. 
 
Reason: 
To enable vehicles used by occupiers or visitors to be parked off the public highway so as to avoid 
damage to amenity and interference with the free flow of traffic on the highway in accordance with 
Policies DEV20 and DEV29 of the Plymouth & South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014-2034 (2019) 
and Section 9 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2024). 
 
 3 CONDITION: LOADING AND UNLOADING PROVISION 
 
The operators of the site shall ensure that adequate provision shall be made to enable goods vehicles 
to be loaded and unloaded within the site in accordance with details previously submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: 
To enable such vehicles to be loaded and unloaded off the public highway so as to avoid:- (i) damage 
to amenity; (ii) prejudice to public safety and convenience; and (iii) interference with the free flow of 
traffic on the highway; in accordance with Policy DEV29 of the Plymouth & South West Devon Joint 
Local Plan 2014-2034 (2019) and Section 9 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2024). 
 
 4 CONDITION: LONG TERM MONITORING AND MAINTENANCE 
 
The operators of the site shall continue with the monitoring and maintenance scheme to monitor 
the long-term effectiveness of the approved remediation scheme. Reports that demonstrate the 
effectiveness of the monitoring and maintenance scheme must be submitted to and agreed in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: 
To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and neighbouring land 
are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to 
ensure development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risk to workers, neighbours and 
other offsite receptors in accordance with Policy DEV2 of the Plymouth & South West Devon Joint 
Local Plan 2014-2034 (2019) and Section 15 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2024). 
 
 5 CONDITION: HOURS OF OPERATION 
 
No machinery shall be operated, no process shall be carried out other than administrative functions, 
and no deliveries taken at or despatched from the site outside the following times: 07:00 to 19:00 
hours Monday to Friday inclusive, 07:00 to 17:00 hours Saturday, and 10:00-14:00 hours Sundays and 
Bank or Public Holidays. 
 

Page 44



 

 

Reason: 
To protect the residential and general amenity of the area from any harmfully polluting effects and 
avoid conflict with Policy DEV2 of the Plymouth & South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014-2034 
(2019) and Section 15 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2024). 
 
 6 CONDITION: STACKING HEIGHT RESTRICTIONON 
 
Containers shall not be stacked or deposited to a height exceeding 3 units high. 
 
Reason: 
To safeguard the amenities of the area and the appearance of the site in accordance with policies 
DEV1, DEV20 and DEV23 of the Plymouth & South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014-2034 (2019) 
and Section 12 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2024). 
 

 
INFORMATIVES 

 
 
 1 INFORMATIVE: (NOT CIL LIABLE) DEVELOPMENT IS NOT LIABLE FOR A 
COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY CONTRIBUTION 
 
The Local Planning Authority has assessed that this development, due to its size or nature, is 
exempt from any liability under the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended). 
 
 2 INFORMATIVE: CONDITIONAL APPROVAL (NEGOTIATION) 
 
In accordance with the requirements of Article 31 of the Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2010 and the National Planning Policy 
Framework, the Council has worked in a positive and pro-active way with the Applicant and has 
negotiated amendments to the application to enable the grant of planning permission. 
 
 3 INFORMATIVE: BIODIVERSITY NET GAIN EXEMPTION - SECTION 73 
 
In accordance with the Biodiversity Gain Requirements (Exemptions) Regulations 2024, this 
application is exempt from mandatory BNG as it is a section 73 application to amend an application 
that was granted before 12 February 2024. 
 
 4 INFORMATIVE: UNAUTHORISED DEVELOPMENT 
 
For the avoidance of doubt, this planning permission permits ongoing use of the site for operations 
falling under Use Class B8 storage and distribution. It does not regularise the construction of new 
buildings or the material change of use that has occurred. 
 
 5 INFORMATIVE: CHARACTER AND APPEARANCE 
 
In accordance with Condition 2, this planning permission is limited to a period of five years. The 
applicant is advised that any planning application for any permanent use at the site must include 
proposals to improve the character and appearance of the site frontage onto Keyham Road in 
accordance with JLP Policy DEV20. 
 

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning Applications Determined Since Last Committee
Decision Date Decision Applicaition No: Applicant Proposal Address Case Officer

17/06/2025 25/00630/TCO Mr Joe Phillips G1 Reduce bay and laurels in rear garden to 5-
6ft in height. Lateral growth on next doors 
side to be cut back 1.5m and number 6 side

1 Collingwood Villas Collingwood 
Road Plymouth PL1 5NZ 

Alan RoweApproved

17/06/2025 25/00688/TPO Mrs Lydia Atkins (T1) Ash - Repollard to 7 metres (T2) 
Hornbeam - Reduce to of 6 metres (T3) 
Hornbeam - Reduce to height of 6 metres 
(T4) Hornbeam - Coppice hedge to 1 metre 
(T5] Hornbeam - Fell (T6) Beech - Reduction 
to 7 metres (T7) Sycamore - Fell (T8) Beech -
Reduction to 7 metres

25 Holly Park Close Plymouth PL5 
4JY 

Alan RoweTree Split Decision

17/06/2025 25/00689/TCO Mr Peter Munn (T1) Laurel - reduce back to boundary.  (T2) 
Bay- Reduce tree to 5 metres (T3) Bay- 
Reduce tree to 5 metres (T4) Field Maple - 
Reduce tree to 5 metres (T6) Pittasporum - 
pollard to 3 metres (T7) Bay- reduce tree to 5 
metres (T8) Bay - reduce tree to 7 metres 
(Group 1)  Bay -reduce group to 4 metres 
(Group 2) Bay - reduce to 4 metres, Cut back 
all greenery growing over Mannamead 
Avenue back to boundary.

Woodbine, Seymour Road 
Mannamead Plymouth PL3 5AS 

Alan RoweApproved

17/06/2025 25/00692/TCO Alan Swales G1 - x2 Holm oaks - fell  T2 -  fell Cumberland Road Plymouth PL1 
4HX  

Alan RoweApproved

17/06/2025 25/00708/TCO Brown T1 - Horse Chestnut - Reduce crown leaving 
the tree standing at 12m, reduce northern 
canopy to achieve a clearance of  4m building 
on Slate lane and crown raises entire crown 
to achieve a clearance of 3m from footway 
level and 4m from garden level.

19 Caroline Place Plymouth PL1 
3PS 

Alan RoweApproved

15 July 2025 Page 1 of 10

P
age 47

A
genda Item

 7



Decision Date Decision Applicaition No: Applicant Proposal Address Case Officer

17/06/2025 25/00226/CDM Mr Greg Browne Condition Discharge: Conditions 7 (Car Park 
Improvements/Pedestrian Route/HGV 
Access), 8 (Street Details), 9 (District 
Energy),10 (Hard Landscaping), 11 (Details of 
Northern part of the Site) and 12 (External 
Materials Building) of application 
23/01767/FUL

Car Park, Colin Campbell Court 
Plymouth PL1 1PZ 

Helen BlacklockAgreed Condition 
Details

17/06/2025 24/01656/FUL Mr Lawton Change of use from dwelling into 3no flats, 
with single storey rear extension and parking 
to rear

357 St Levan Road Plymouth PL2 
1JR 

Mr Macauley PotterGrant Conditionally

17/06/2025 25/00217/TPO Hayley Walsh Oak tree- Tree Works 4 Wardlow Close Plymouth PL6 
5PX 

Alan RoweGrant Conditionally

17/06/2025 25/00409/FUL Spaghetti Bridge Ltd Change of use of sports court to car park and 
drop-off area and extension to hardstand 
(part retrospective)

99 Craigie Drive Plymouth PL1 3JL Miss Emily GodwinGrant Conditionally

17/06/2025 25/00466/OUT Mr M Morrison Outline application with all matters reserved 
except for access for development of up to 
3,530 sqm of general industrial (Class B2) 
and/or storage and distribution (Class B8)

17 Bell Close Plymouth PL7 4JH Mr Daniel ThorningGrant Conditionally

17/06/2025 25/00632/S73 Mr Maciej Meldner Variation of Condition 1 (Approved Plans) of 
application 23/01348/FUL.

27 Boringdon Avenue Plymouth 
PL5 1UU 

Mr Macauley PotterGrant Conditionally

17/06/2025 25/00661/TPO Mr Saad Faraj T1 Oak - Reduce lateral branches overhanging 
property roof leaving the heigh untouched at 
approximatly 26m and a leaving a crown 
spread E to W of approximately 24m  and the 
spread N to S crown spread of approximately 
10m. Also  crown raise all branches 
overhanging roof to give 3m clearance above 
ridge of roof.  

20 Caradon Close Plymouth PL6 
6AJ 

Alan RoweGrant Conditionally

15 July 2025 Page 2 of 10

P
age 48



Decision Date Decision Applicaition No: Applicant Proposal Address Case Officer

17/06/2025 25/00685/TPO Mrs Maxwell G001 - Ash-Reduce to 6m 62 Erlstoke Close Plymouth PL6 
5QP 

Alan RoweGrant Conditionally

17/06/2025 25/00686/TPO Mr Graham Foale (T1) Sweet Chestnut - reduce over hanging 
limb  (T2) Sycamore - Fell

8 Blue Haze Close Plymouth PL6 
7HR 

Alan RoweGrant Conditionally

17/06/2025 25/00706/TPO Mrs Christine Blackwell Macrocarpas (Monterey Cypress) cut back by 
2 meters beyond the fence line of 
overhanging branches

74 Consort Close Plymouth PL3 
5TX 

Alan RoweGrant Conditionally

17/06/2025 25/00709/TPO Readman T1 - Crown reduction and install bracing 13 Hartley Road Plymouth PL3 
5LW 

Alan RoweGrant Conditionally

17/06/2025 25/00627/TPO Mr Paul Stafford Tree 3 - Pollard Sycamore tree at 10m Tree 
5 - Remove 1 small sycamore tree  Tree 4 - 
Reduce beech tree  from 18m in height to 
14m height. Reduce northern crown spread 
from 9m to 6m.

31 Belle Vue Rise Plymouth PL9 
9QD 

Alan RoweRefuse

18/06/2025 25/00662/FUL Mr Wilson Loft conversion with new gable window, and 
new boundary fencing

49 Broadland Gardens Plymouth 
PL9 8TU 

Ethan BellGrant Conditionally

19/06/2025 24/00970/CDM Mr Ian Carnwell Condition Discharge: Condition 9 (Travel 
Plan) and Condition 10 (Fencing Design) of 
application 23/01559/S73

22 Millbay Road Plymouth PL1 3EG Helen BlacklockAgreed Condition 
Details

19/06/2025 25/00494/CDM Ms Sandra Harris Discharge of conditions 4 (Surface Water 
Drainage), 5 (New Access), 6 (Construction 
Traffic Management Plan) and 7 (Highway 
Dilapidation Survey) for planning consent: 
24/00697/FUL.

Mount Tamar School Row Lane 
Plymouth PL5 2EF 

Mr Macauley PotterAgreed Condition 
Details

15 July 2025 Page 3 of 10

P
age 49



Decision Date Decision Applicaition No: Applicant Proposal Address Case Officer

19/06/2025 25/00617/FUL George Installation of a replacement shopfront Amica Bridal Sainsburys 
Supermarket Plymouth Road 
Plymouth PL3 6RL 

Luke ValentineGrant Conditionally

19/06/2025 25/00619/S73 Mr & Mrs McNair Variation of Condition 2 (Clear Glazing to be 
used in the roof) of application 03/01545/FUL 
to allow for insulated slate effect roof to be 
used

10 Cheshire Drive Plymouth PL6 
6SQ 

Cody BeavanGrant Conditionally

20/06/2025 25/00198/FUL Mr J Sims Erection of one detached dwelling and 
associated curtilage works (self-build).

Land At Sefton Avenue Plymouth 
PL4 7HB

Mr Macauley PotterGrant Conditionally

20/06/2025 25/00420/FUL Mr Chris Hocking Single storey combined side and rear 
extension and wraparound car port and front 
porch.

2 Roborough Avenue Plymouth 
PL6 6AG 

Luke ValentineGrant Conditionally

20/06/2025 25/00624/ADV Ms Gaye Simone 
Harrison Kelly

12no. illuminated signage. Argosy House 1 Longbridge Road 
Plymouth  

Mr Macauley PotterGrant Conditionally

20/06/2025 25/00637/LBC Mr John Sutherland Proposed height reduction and repair of 
existing chimney

28 Fore Street Plympton Plymouth 
PL7 1NA 

Mr Macauley PotterGrant Conditionally

20/06/2025 25/00654/ADV Rachel Halls Proposed surround to be placed around 
existing ATM.

7 Marlborough Street Plymouth 
PL1 4AE 

Luke ValentineGrant Conditionally

20/06/2025 25/00650/FUL IVC Evidensia Provision of external alterations/equipment 
and additional car parking in association with 
use of building as animal hospital

26 William Prance Road Plymouth 
PL6 5WR 

Mr Daniel ThorningRefuse

15 July 2025 Page 4 of 10

P
age 50



Decision Date Decision Applicaition No: Applicant Proposal Address Case Officer

24/06/2025 25/00573/LBC Frances Prattent Refurbish commercial unit and shopfront, 
plus party wall improvements

24 New Street Plymouth PL1 2NB Mr Sam LewisGrant Conditionally

25/06/2025 25/00170/FUL University Of Plymouth Demolition of rear extensions, new rear three 
storey rear extension.  Use of the building F1 
Learning and non-residential institution with 
ancillary use Class E opticians

Hepworth House  University Of 
Plymouth Plymouth PL4 6AW

Joanna ChurchillGrant Conditionally

25/06/2025 25/00629/FUL Mr Henry Tam Single-storey front extension forming garage, 
two-storey side extension

300 Tavistock Road Plymouth PL6 
8AN 

Luke ValentineGrant Conditionally

26/06/2025 25/00863/CDC James Thomas Compliance of conditions of application 
15/00858/OUT

12 Ballad Gardens Plymouth PL5 
3FF 

Mr Daniel ThorningAgreed Condition 
Details

26/06/2025 25/00877/CDM Mr Tim Lewis Condition Discharge: Condition 14 (Accessible 
and Adaptable Dwellings) of application 
22/00312/OUT

North Prospect Library Greatlands 
Place Plymouth PL2 3JG 

Mr Daniel ThorningAgreed Condition 
Details

26/06/2025 25/00596/FUL Mr Tony Vickers Front hardstand and dropped kerb. 151 Billacombe Road Plymouth PL9 
7HB

Joanna ChurchillGrant Conditionally

27/06/2025 24/00743/FUL Mr Dave Hewett Application to approve the as-built dwelling 
and alterations to the external elevations, the 
location of the as-built foul and surface water 
drainage and a proposed detached double 
garage with associated landscaping works

19 Forget Me Not Lane Plymouth 
PL6 7FA   

Mr Jon FoxGrant Conditionally

27/06/2025 25/00304/FUL Mrs Katie Parker-
Morrow

Single storey rear conservatory 55 Thames Gardens Plymouth PL3 
6HD 

Luke ValentineGrant Conditionally

15 July 2025 Page 5 of 10

P
age 51



Decision Date Decision Applicaition No: Applicant Proposal Address Case Officer

27/06/2025 25/00521/FUL Ms Neale Proposed front dormer, side garage, 
boundary fence and extension to rear dormer 
windows

5 Springfield Avenue Plymouth PL9 
8PZ 

Ethan BellGrant Conditionally

27/06/2025 25/00724/FUL University Hospitals 
Plymouth NHS Trust

Erection of bin store and bike store Derriford Hospital Derriford Road 
Plymouth PL6 8DH 

Joanna ChurchillGrant Conditionally

30/06/2025 25/00756/TCO Foster T1 - Magnolia - Reduce entire canopy by 1.5m 
leaving the tree standing at 3m from garden 
level and crown raise over footway to achieve 
a clearance of 2.5m form footway level.

66 Whiteford Road Plymouth PL3 
5LY 

Alan RoweApproved

30/06/2025 25/00737/TPO Mr & Mrs Shemetras T1 and T2 - Reduce leaving finished height of 
4m and width of 6m.

36 Burleigh Manor Plymouth PL3 
5NT 

Alan RoweGrant Conditionally

30/06/2025 25/00698/TPO Carr G1 5x Poplar, 2x Cherry, 1x Oak, 1x Lime, & 
3x Sycamore -  Crown lift to provide a 
clearance of approximately 10.0 metres and 
acheive a minimum clearance of 
approximately x4 metres between branch 
Ɵps & adjacent buildings.   J

Mount Gould Hospital Mount 
Gould Road Plymouth PL4 7QD 

Alan RoweRefuse

01/07/2025 25/00701/AMD Tayloy Wimpey (Exeter) Non-material Amendment: Amendments to 
boundary wall, floor plans and elevations for 
Plots B15, 34, 35, B1-B14 and B28-B33 for 
application 15/01858/REM

"Sherford New Community" Land 
South/Southwest Of A38 Elburton 
Plymouth

Ms Abbey EdwardsNon-material Minor 
Amendment Agreed

01/07/2025 25/00423/FUL Mr Ammad Rafique New signage, new shopfront and extraction 
flue to rear

Unit 9, Plymouth Cross, New 
George Street Plymouth PL1 1RX  

Joanna ChurchillGrant Conditionally

01/07/2025 25/00517/FUL Mr Ian Nessbert Side garage extension with balcony over 53 Marine Road Plymouth PL9 7NJ Joanna ChurchillGrant Conditionally

15 July 2025 Page 6 of 10

P
age 52



Decision Date Decision Applicaition No: Applicant Proposal Address Case Officer

01/07/2025 25/00657/FUL Mr Patrick Hatswell Single storey rear extension 95 Temeraire Road Plymouth PL5 
3UA 

Cody BeavanGrant Conditionally

01/07/2025 25/00660/FUL Mr Todd Bance Erection of a single storey outbuilding 136 Ladysmith Road Plymouth PL4 
7NW 

Ethan BellGrant Conditionally

01/07/2025 25/00683/FUL Mr Mark Tucker Proposed single storey rear extension 58 Weston Park Road Plymouth 
PL3 4NW 

Ethan BellGrant Conditionally

02/07/2025 25/00827/AMD Old Tree Court Ltd Non-Material Amendment: Alterations to 
approved canopy, reduction in existing wall 
heights, and retention of existing steps/ramp 
for application 24/01675/FUL

Old Tree Court, 64 Exeter Street 
Plymouth PL4 0AJ 

Mr Sam LewisNon-material Minor 
Amendment Agreed

02/07/2025 25/00645/LBC Mr Neal Ivey Temporary siting of Mobile Ammunition 
Inspection Facility MAIF and relocation to 
original position on a permanent basis on 
concrete footings

Building BP017A, RNAD Bullpoint 
Kinterbury Road Plymouth  

Mr Jon FoxGrant Conditionally

02/07/2025 25/00677/S73 Devonport Royal 
Dockyard Limited

Variation of Condition 1 (Approved Plans) of 
application 23/00751/S73 - amendments 
including changes to loading area to provide 
grass area, alteration to retaining walls, 
replacement of ramp with access steps and 
increased solar panel provision.

Devonport Dockyard Saltash Road 
Keyham Plymouth PL1 4SG 

Mr Macauley PotterGrant Conditionally

02/07/2025 25/00759/ADV Sutton Harbour Group Wall mounted hoarding sign Sutton Harbour Marina Control 
Office Plymouth PL4 0DW 

Joanna ChurchillGrant Conditionally

03/07/2025 25/00772/ERS103 Vikki Wakeham Request for an EIA Screening Opinion for the 
Mount Batten pontoon replacement

Pontoon And Walkway 
Mountbatten Lawrence Road 
Plymouth PL9 9SJ

Miss Amy ThompsonESRI - Completed

15 July 2025 Page 7 of 10

P
age 53



Decision Date Decision Applicaition No: Applicant Proposal Address Case Officer

03/07/2025 25/00639/CDM Mr & Mrs K Corish Condition Discharge: Conditions 4 (Boundary 
Treatment) 5 (Landscaping Details) and 6 
(External Materials) of Application 
23/00597/FUL

162 Dunstone View Plymouth PL9 
8QL 

Ms Abbey EdwardsAgreed Condition 
Details

03/07/2025 25/00522/FUL Mr Williams Single storey rear extension and internal 
alterations

195 Church Way Plymouth PL5 1AL Cody BeavanGrant Conditionally

04/07/2025 25/00905/AMD Mr Andrew Mouat Non-Material Amendment: Reduction in 
approved louvre number and minor 
arrangement alterations for application 
25/00155/FUL

Scott Building University Of 
Plymouth Drake Circus Plymouth 
PL4 8AA 

Mr Sam LewisNon-material Minor 
Amendment Agreed

04/07/2025 25/00675/FUL Sue Radford Erection of an annexe for ancillary use to the 
main dwellinghouse

Apple Trees 2 Great Churchway 
Plymouth PL9 8JY 

Joanna ChurchillGrant Conditionally

04/07/2025 25/00700/FUL Mr Gray & Miss Beavan Single storey rear extension and internal 
alterations

92 Old Woodlands Road Plymouth 
PL5 3SX 

Luke ValentineGrant Conditionally

04/07/2025 24/01683/FUL Mr Kevin Briscoe Erection of two apartment blocks comprising 
of 10no. flats (Class C3), inc. associated 
infrastructure, access, and landscaping

Longreach, Hartley Road Plymouth 
PL3 5LW 

Mr Sam LewisGrant Subject to 
S106 Obligation - Full

07/07/2025 25/00682/LBC Babcock International 
Group

Erection of scaffolding in connection with 
works to roof of the building (refs: 
24/01075/LBC and 25/00015/FUL).

Devonport Dockyard Saltash Road 
Keyham Plymouth PL1 4SG 

Mr Macauley PotterGrant Conditionally

07/07/2025 25/00687/LBC Dr Joseph Rahamin Altered vehicle openings and new garage 
doors.

4 Elliot Terrace Plymouth PL1 2PL Joanna ChurchillGrant Conditionally

15 July 2025 Page 8 of 10

P
age 54



Decision Date Decision Applicaition No: Applicant Proposal Address Case Officer

07/07/2025 25/00741/FUL Dr Christian Marston Expansion of permitted Sui Generis use to 
include provision of research and 
development within Unit 1 and partial 
reconfiguration of four emissions stacks

10 Estover Road Plymouth PL6 7PY Mr Macauley PotterGrant Conditionally

08/07/2025 18/01945/CDM Miss Ruth Burrows Condition Discharge: Conditions 8 (Retaining 
Walls), 22 (Secured by Design) & 23 (Lockable 
Gates) of application 15/00519/REM

"Sherford New Community" Land 
South/Southwest Of A38 Deep 
Lane And East Of Haye Road 
Plymouth PL9 8DD  

Mr Tom FrenchAgreed Condition 
Details

08/07/2025 25/00580/FUL Mr. Taylor Wilson Proposed loft conversion with juliet balcony, 
side extension with garage below and new 
front steps

82 Church Way Plymouth PL5 1AH Luke ValentineGrant Conditionally

08/07/2025 25/00649/LBC Neil Emery Internal and external building alterations 23 Lockyer Street Plymouth PL1 
2QW 

Ms Abbey EdwardsGrant Conditionally

08/07/2025 25/00720/FUL Luke Empson First floor rear extension to residential 
dwelling

1 Ryder Road Plymouth PL2 1DU Luke ValentineGrant Conditionally

09/07/2025 25/00719/CDM University Hospitals 
Plymouth NHS Trust

CONDITION DISCHARGE: Condition 5 (Soft 
Landscape Hedge Details), Condition 7 
(Landscape Ecological Management Plan) and 
Condition 9 (Ecological Mitigation Bat Box) 
for application 25/00123/FUL

Derriford Hospital Derriford Road 
Plymouth PL6 8DH 

Joanna ChurchillAgreed Condition 
Details

09/07/2025 25/00424/ADV Mr Ammad Rafique New fascia signage and projecting sign Unit 9, Plymouth Cross, New 
George Street Plymouth PL1 1RX 

Joanna ChurchillGrant Conditionally

09/07/2025 25/00731/FUL Mr K Sefdeen Change of use from Class C2 to 6no. flats 
(Class C3)

156 North Road East Plymouth PL4 
6AQ 

Mr Sam LewisGrant Conditionally

15 July 2025 Page 9 of 10

P
age 55



Decision Date Decision Applicaition No: Applicant Proposal Address Case Officer

09/07/2025 25/00665/FUL Mrs Judith Sheehy Proposed private motor garage and store 20 Benbow Street Plymouth PL2 
1BX

Luke ValentineRefuse

10/07/2025 25/00723/CDM University Hospitals 
Plymouth NHS Trust

Condition Discharge: Condition 4 Unexpected 
Contamination of application 25/00123/FUL

Derriford Hospital Derriford Road 
Plymouth PL6 8DH 

Joanna ChurchillAgreed Condition 
Details

10/07/2025 25/00633/FUL Mr Jamie McLaren-
Smith

Replacement of existing conservatory with 
single storey rear extension, raised decking 
and associated steps

4 Manor Park Drive Plymouth PL7 
2HT 

Cody BeavanGrant Conditionally

11/07/2025 25/00771/PIP Mr Andy Carmichael Permission in principle for extension, 
alteration and change of use of garage to 
single dwellinghouse

Land At 4 Coringdean Close 
Plymouth PL6 6DQ 

Mr Jon FoxPermission Granted 
in Principle

11/07/2025 25/00766/CDMLB Urban Splash (Royal 
William Yard) Ltd

Condition Discharge: Condition 3 
(Archaeology Monitoring) and 4 (Recording 
of Features) of application 16/01377/LBC

Melville Building, Royal William 
Yard Plymouth  

Miss Katherine 
Graham

Agreed Condition 
Details

11/07/2025 25/00702/FUL Mr Will Hughes Alterations/demoliton to part of boundary 
wall to create off street parking at the rear 
with fencing

41 Valletort Road Plymouth PL1 
5PH 

Ethan BellGrant Conditionally

11/07/2025 25/00715/FUL Mr R Haxby Proposed works to ancillary accomodation 
building, including construction of two-storey 
extension to replace single storey and front 
dormers to existing roof

Hillside, Courtfield Road Plymouth 
PL3 5BB 

Ethan BellGrant Conditionally

15 July 2025 Page 10 of 10

P
age 56


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Minutes

	6.1 24/00371/FUL - Land Adj. To Wilmot Gardens Plymouth PL5 3TP
	6.2 25/00236/S73 - 186 - 190 Keyham Road Plymouth PL2 1RB
	7 Planning Application Decisions Issued

